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19.9% stake in 
AMR Technologies,

a world leading producer 
of advanced Rare Earths

with manufacturing 
facilities in China

Lycopodium Optimisation 
studies completed

Admitted to
Standard & Poors 

ASX 300 Index

Successfully completed 
technical feasibility study 

for producing Mt Weld 
concentrate

Environmental approval 
granted for processsing
Mt Weld concentrate 

at selected site in China

The RED business 
model developed by 
Lynas shows strong 

economics

Advancement of
Rare Metals Project – 
Drilling program and 
resource estimation 

underway

Highlights
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Values 

As a team we will:

> Strive for excellence in safety, 
health and the environment

> Value our differences and 
be open to change

> Operate in an honest, candid 
and transparent manner

> Deliver quality products, 
processes and services

> Always respect and 
contribute to the 
communities in 
which we operate

Vision & Values
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Vision

We will lead the growth of the global 
Rare Earths industry by creating a reliable,
fully integrated source of supply from mine
through to customer.
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Chairman’s Report

As a company we have substantially progressed 
our plans and capacity to build a significant business 
in Rare Earths.

Brian Davidson Chairman

Brian Davidson
Chairman

It is with great pleasure that I present to you
the annual report for Lynas Corporation for
the financial year ended June 2004.

“Poised for Development”
As a company we have substantially
progressed our plans and capacity to build
a significant business in Rare Earths based
on the unique resource at Mt Weld. I wish 
to congratulate all of the team at Lynas
Corporation for their efforts in the last year,
and assure shareholders that the company 
is now well positioned to develop its exciting
RED model for an integrated Rare Earths
business. We aim to be in production 
by 2006.

The timing of our entry into the Rare Earths
market is likely to be very favourable. Global
economic trends are strong, with growing
demand for Rare Earths. The Rare Earths
market has seen a significant recovery for
the first time since the high tech crash in
2001, in both volumes and prices, driven
primarily by growth in the automotive and
electronics industries.

Total demand for Rare Earths increased
approximately 10% year on year to 81,000
tonnes for the full year. Rare Earths have
seen substantial price rises during the year,
in particular those used in the magnetics
and display industries. Terbium oxide 
used in both these industries more than
doubled its price over the last year. 
All of these rises are an indication of 
a substantial improvement in market
conditions for Rare Earths.

China Economic Growth
The global economic growth is in no small
part due to the enormous economic growth
in China. China’s year on year GDP growth 

is a phenomenal 9.1%. Increasingly this growth
is fuelled by the shift of the manufacturing
industry, in particular, electronics to China.
Over the last three years China has
experienced a 35% growth in television
production whilst the rest of the world 
has remained steady.

As well as being a major supplier, China 
is becoming a key market for Rare Earths,
and the company’s plans to build our
comprehensive processing capacity in China
are most appropriate. This will not only
allow us to be close to major customers,
but also to take advantage of the lower capital
and operating costs associated with China.

Governance
Andrew Lupton retired during the year 
as an Executive Director. I would like to 
thank Andrew for his invaluable contribution
to Lynas Corporation. Andrew was
instrumental in refocussing the strategy of
the company into a Rare Earths integrated
producer. Andrew has had a foundation 
role in building this company and we wish 
him all the very best in his retirement.

The Board recently appointed a new
independent Director, Jake Klein. Jake
brings invaluable experience in both financial
markets and management of operations 
in China, gained through his role as CEO 
of Sino Gold Ltd. The Board is delighted
that Jake has agreed to assist in the
development of Lynas Corporation. 

With Jake’s appointment the Board now
has a majority of independent Directors, 
in line with CLERP 9 standards.

I look forward to the year ahead for Lynas
shareholders. I believe that the next year will
see us move from planning to development
and believe that this will be the beginning of
substantial shareholder value being created
from the realisation of our business model.



During the year we have taken the
opportunity of favourable market conditions
to stabilise the medium term financial
outlook through the raising of $23,930,265.
A total of $10,000,000 was raised as a
convertible note, and $13,930,265 from 
the exercise of options. 

This has been done in an environment of
increasingly certain economic recovery in
the electronics and automotive industries,
the key markets for Rare Earths. We have
seen a solid recovery in Rare Earths prices,
although we believe there is still significant
upside potential in the pricing of Rare Earths
over the next year.

All of this has enabled us to establish the
base on which we will build a very exciting
position in the Rare Earths industry. Our
purpose and focus has been to define how
best to develop the integrated Rare Earths
model for customer acceptance and
maximum shareholder value. Our business
model is based on our world-class Rare
Earths deposit at Mt Weld, but moves
beyond that. We are seeking to be involved
in every aspect of the value chain in Rare
Earths from ore, through to the production
of specific oxides for end users of Rare Earths.

We have named this integrated production
business model our Rare Earths Direct
(RED) model.

We are now poised to develop this
important and strategic project.

The two key parts of the RED model 
are: the production of mixed oxides from 
Mt Weld ore (the Upstream Project); and
then the separation of these mixed oxides
into specific oxides for end users (the
Downstream Project). Both projects
together form the RED model, but 
each individually is a strong and
independent business. 

A key achievement of the year has been 
our ability to define to feasibility study stage
the best options for the Upstream Project. 
We are currently finalising these options,
specifically evaluating the benefits of locating
the concentrator in China or Mt Weld.

In addition to the planning we have
commenced execution of our strategy 
for establishing our Downstream Project
through the acquisition of a majority interest
of 19.9% in AMR Technologies Inc, a
Canadian publicly listed company that
processes Rare Earths. We continue 
to plan for the downstream portion of the
RED model, through acquisition or strategic
alliance with downstream plants such 
as AMR.

President and CEO’s 
Outlook Statement
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Nicholas Curtis President and CEO

The dream is now very well defined and I believe that
we are truly poised for development and have begun
the process to “Make it Real”.
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Current planning has us in production
during 2006. We are targeting a two stage
development, with the first staged at 10,500
tonnes Rare Earths oxide (REO) per annum,
moving rapidly up to 15,000 tonnes per
annum in 2010.

Whilst strong, the financial parameters 
do not fully reflect the true value of 
building this business. Upon successful
development of our business we will be 
a major global player in an industry that 
can only grow. Barriers to entry are very
high and the strategic value of our business
should not be underestimated. This will 
be reflected in our ability to leverage this
unique position to grow our presence, 
both upstream and downstream, in an
industry that will undergo significant change
over the next five years as the dominant
player is exposed to market forces, and 
the Chinese government ceases to give 
specific support to the industry.

As this occurs Lynas will be in a strong
position to grow its business both upstream
and downstream to create substantial
shareholder value.

Another significant development during 
the year has been the drilling of the Rare
Metals resource in the Coors and Crown
deposits at Mt Weld. This resource is
potentially globally significant as a source of
niobium and tantalum. In addition it is rich in
zirconium, titanium and the heavy end of the
Rare Earths suite. A scoping study is being
completed that indicates that the resource
is well worthy of significant further research. 

Key metallurgical issues need to be
examined and the market capacity to
absorb the additional material is critical.
Despite these issues, the Rare Metals
Project has the potential to transform 
the company.

I would like to take the opportunity to thank
all the employees and the Board of Lynas,
who have toiled diligently this year in pursuit
of our dream. The dream is now very well
defined and I believe that we are truly
poised for development and have begun 
the process to “Make it Real”. We look
forward to delivering superior returns to 
our shareholders.

Nicholas Curtis
President and Chief Executive Officer

Rare Earths are core ingredients 
in a vast array of applications that:
enhance the environment; 
provide energy efficient solutions;
bring light and colour to life; and
facilitate miniaturisation.



Rare Earths magnets
are used in CD, DVD and  

hard disk drives, micro 
motors, sensors and 

stereo speakers

Europium and other 
Rare Earths continue to be 
the dominant phosphors for 
traditional cathode ray tube 
as well as new generation 

flat screen displays

Glass containing
lanthanum is 

universally used 
to make lenses 
for all cameras

A mix of Rare Earths 
known as 'mischmetal' 

forms the metal 
hydride part of NiMH 
rechargeable batteries

Integrated circuits 
at the heart of 

modern day devices 
are polished with high 

purity cerium oxide

On the brink of 
commercialisation, 

lanthanum carbonate 
has pharmaceutical 

application as a 
phosphate binder 
in kidney dialysis

Rare Earths magnets 
containing neodymium, 

praseodymium and
terbium have revolutionised 

the production of 
small, lightweight 

electronic products

Rare Earths 
in Technology
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Brian Davidson LL.B. (Hons)

Chairman Non-Executive

Mr Davidson is a consultant to Deacons, a
major national law firm, having retired as a
Partner on 30 June 2004. Mr Davidson has
over 35 years experience in corporate and
commercial law, particularly in the natural
resources industry. He has been a Director 
of many listed public companies including
Carr Boyd Minerals Ltd and is presently 
a Director of Sino Gold Limited and a
number of private company groups.

Nicholas Curtis B.A. (Hons)

President and Chief Executive Officer

Mr Curtis is the President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company; 
he is the Chairman of Sino Gold Limited, 
an Australian listed public company with
gold mining operations in China; Chairman 
of St Vincents and Mater Health Sydney
Limited; Director of Garvan Institute of
Medical Research; and President of Australia
China Business Council NSW Branch. His
background is in resources banking and
financing based on more than 20 years as 
a professional in the futures, commodities
and stockbroking industries.

Wang Ou (Harold) M.SC.

Executive Director and Vice President 
China Business Development

Mr Wang is an Executive Director of the
Company and joined the Board on 28
September 2001. Previously he was Vice
President China business development of
Sino Mining International Limited. Prior to
that he was Vice Director of the Foreign
Affairs Bureau of China National Nonferrous
Metals Industry Corporation (CNNC) where
he had responsibility for planning and
administering the nonferrous industry
nationwide with particular emphasis on
examining and approving new projects. 
Mr Wang has an undergraduate and
Master’s degree in engineering with 
an emphasis on statistical analysis 
and modelling.

David Davidson
Director Non-Executive

Mr Davidson is an independent Director 
of the Company and joined the Board 
on 28 March 2002. He has had a
distinguished career with ICI and DuPont. 
An Australian, he has lived and worked 
in Europe and North America and held a
number of Senior Executive roles with global
responsibilities. He is a former Director of 
ICI America Inc. Since returning to Australia,
Mr Davidson has been providing executive
and corporate advice on organisation
development and strategy.

From Left: David Davidson, 
Nicholas Curtis, Brian Davidson 
and Harold Wang.
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Board of Directors



“Mt Weld Mine” 

Access to a world class Rare Earths 
ore body is fundamental in order to grasp 

the opportunity presented by a growth 
market and the inevitable reform of the Rare 
Earths industry within China. The ‘Upstream 

Project’ is built on the foundations of the
world’s richest known Rare Earths deposit

located at Mt Weld, Western Australia.  

Lynas is ready to commence open pit mining 
as all environmental, Native Title and

Aboriginal Heritage studies and 
approvals are complete.

“Rare Earths Concentration” 

Lynas’ concentration process is an 
oxide flotation employing a novel flotation 
reagent regime developed by Lynas with 

a Chinese research institute.

A pilot plant utilising the new reagent has
been completed achieving a steady state 

process recovery for the Rare Earths 
oxide of 63% at 40% REO grade. 

1

2

The RED Business Model
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Upstream



“Separation to individual
Rare Earths”

Rare Earths chlorides are further separated
into individual Rare Earths oxides and metals

of various purities, for their individual
or combined commercial use depending

upon their application.

Lynas is in discussions with several separation 
plants in China that could undertake toll

separation or could be acquired.

“

“Rare Earths Cracking and 
Initial Separation”

The Mt Weld concentrate will be processed 
at a purpose built processing facility to 
produce two intermediate Rare Earths

products for further separation.  

Mature cracking technology employs sulphuric 
acid treatment of Mt Weld concentrate

to produce a mixed Rare Earths chloride,
which is then separated into a Light Rare 
Earths and Heavy Rare Earths chloride 

using solvent extraction.

3

4
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Downstream



Business Development
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The RED Value Propositions
Lynas is well positioned to benefit from the
dynamic environment in the Rare Earths
market. The sharp rise in prices and 
supply issues within and outside China 
have strengthened the three key value
propositions of Lynas to potential 
customers in this growing market:

■ Building the world’s only integrated
supply system from mine to consumer;

■ Producing Rare Earths that meet the
world’s environmental standards; and

■ Marketing an international brand of
guaranteed quality.

In the RED model Lynas controls Rare
Earths materials from the Mt Weld mine
through the processing stages by direct
ownership or strategic alliance. Lynas will be
unique in its ability to offer security of supply
at known costs to the global Rare Earths
consumers. This is unavailable within the
current Rare Earths market structure and
will create market opportunities by:

■ Allowing stable long term fixed or
framed price contracts to be struck 
if desired by the customer

■ Offering supply chain transparency 
to the customers, allowing them to
minimise inventory costs

■ Giving customers the confidence to
apply Rare Earths to new applications,
enabling product development activities
and re-tooling.

The development of the RED model ensures
maximum profitability across the value chain
through the entire business cycle, and
creates a robust and enduring enterprise
with the ability for further expansion.

Implementation of the RED model concept
continued to evolve during the year. 

An option was identified to integrate 
all of the processing in China, thereby
potentially realising significant reductions 
in capital expenditure.

Rare Earths Concentration
During the year Lynas successfully
completed the technical feasibility study for
the production of Rare Earths concentrate
at Mt Weld. Committed to delivering
superior returns to shareholders, the
Company is evaluating the economic and
operational benefits for performing the
concentration process in China, utilising
Lynas’ state of the art flotation processing
technology already developed.

An initial Chinese engineering estimate
based on the Australian design criteria and
Lynas’ flotation regime has identified the
potential of a 50% capital expenditure
reduction for a concentrator located in
China. This reduction in capital cost is
driven by a number of factors:

■ Chinese firms have significant
experience to draw from in both 
design and construction of Rare Earths
plants due to China’s dominance in 
the industry

■ Chinese designed and made
processing equipment is significantly
cheaper, and perfectly capable of
performing very well

■ The construction management,
installation, and owners teams costs
and other administration costs are
significantly lower in China.

In addition, all the key operational skills for
Rare Earths can be found in China. This will
significantly decrease operational costs,
which will partially offset an increase in the
transportation cost related to locating the
concentrator in China. The Company is also
evaluating the potential value in China of the
iron in the concentrator by-product, which 

The development of the RED model ensures maximum
profitability across the value chain through the entire
business cycle, and creates a robust and enduring
enterprise with the ability for further expansion.
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may further reinforce the attractiveness 
of processing in China by providing an
additional revenue stream. 

Rare Earths Cracking 
and Separation
A Chinese design institute has completed
an engineering study for a cracking and
initial separation plant in China for the latter
stage of the Upstream Project. The process
flow sheet has been tailored to offer flexibility
in our product suite and ensure high
environmental standards are achieved.

This study identified that significant
operating cost savings can be achieved 
by locating the facility at a coastal region 
of China compared to the potential
Australian site that was being considered.

The work undertaken in China included 
the selection of a suitable site, securing 
an option on the land required for the plant,
drilling of the site to establish geotechnical
properties, and modelling of environmental
factors. The district Environmental Protection
Bureau granted Environmental Approval 
in June 2004. 

The China location hosts large and 
mature industries for crude oil refining 
and petrochemicals, alumina refining and
aluminium smelting, iron and steel making,
pharmaceuticals, industrial minerals, and
ceramics. Chemical reagents can be
sourced locally at competitive prices 
and the site is well serviced by existing
infrastructure, offering straightforward
logistics for concentrate transport. 

In the first instance Lynas plans to produce
two intermediate Rare Earths products: 
a light Rare Earths chloride containing
lanthanum, cerium, praseodymium and
neodymium; and SEG the heavy Rare Earths
chloride containing samarium, europium,
gadolinium, yttrium and the other heavy
lanthanides. These products will be free of
impurities and are suitable for use by Rare
Earths separation plants for the manufacture
of individual Rare Earths compounds.

Individual Rare Earths Separation
The separation of Rare Earths chlorides 
into individual Rare Earth oxides and 
metals utilises standard solvent extraction
technology. Lynas is in discussions with
several separation plants in China that could
either undertake toll separation through
strategic alliance or which Lynas could
acquire to undertake the separation of 
the products under its own control. 

Lynas holds a strategic 19.9% stake in 
AMR Technologies Inc. AMR is the world’s
second largest separation processor of 
Rare Earths with two established Rare
Earths plants operating in China. One
predominantly produces light Rare Earths
products, the other heavy Rare Earths
products. AMR has a focus on value added
products, many of which are developed 
in their R&D facilities and in partnership 
with customers. 

Lynas is actively examining opportunities 
to maximise market penetration of the
desired market through alliance and
possible acquisition.

Above: Conceptual Plant Layout for 
Rare Earths Cracking and Separation 
Plant in China.



Mt Weld Operations Review
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Rare Earths Project 
Feasibility Study
The feasibility study for the Mt Weld 
mine and concentrator was successfully
completed during the year. The scope 
of activities primarily involved a number 
of studies relating to mine design and
environmental impact management, 
a definitive engineering study for the
concentrator, and an evaluation of 
the project economics.

This feasibility study is presented for an
operation at Mt Weld, processing 121,000
tonnes per annum of ore and producing
32,400 tonnes per annum of Rare Earths
concentrate, containing 40% REO. 

Significant contributions to the study have
been made by selected consultants for 
key disciplines including:

■ Hellman & Schofield Pty Ltd –
Resource Modelling

■ Australian Mine Design 
and Development Pty Ltd –
Mine Design

■ ENVIRON Australia Pty Ltd –
Environmental, Project Approvals

■ Knight-Piésold Pty Limited –
Geotechnical, Hydrology,
Tailings Pond Design

■ Optimet Laboratories –
Metallurgical Testwork

■ AMMTEC Ltd –
Flotation Demonstration Plant 

■ Lycopodium Pty Ltd –
Concentrator Definitive 
Engineering Study

The flotation process was developed in
China specifically for the Mt Weld ore, and
employs flotation reagents suited to the
recovery of Rare Earth minerals from fine
and slimy ores. 

Engineering work was completed by
Lycopodium in June 2004, following 
a number of optimisation studies. 
The engineering study was based on 
a successful pilot plant demonstration 
of the flotation process completed in 
May 2003.

This study forms the basis for the evaluation
of locating the concentration plant in China
within our revised business model. 

Environmental
The Minister for Environment (WA) approved
a 3-year extension to the environmental
approval for the Rare Earths project, which
is current for project development prior 
to May 2007.

Aboriginal Heritage 
A review of Aboriginal Heritage and Native
Title issues in relation to mining at Mt Weld
confirmed that the four Mining Leases
granted in 1984 were not subject to claim.
At this time, there are no issues likely to
impinge on project development.

Clockwise from left: Radiometric 
logging of samples. Sunset over 
Mt Weld. Diamond core cutting.
Microscope mineralogy. 
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Rare Metals Resources

Rare Metals is the collective term used 
by Lynas for niobium, tantalum, zirconium
and titanium scattered around the periphery
of the Mt Weld carbonatite. Rare Metals 
are used largely in electronics, superalloys,
high strength steel, cutting tools, pigments,
plasticisers and a host of specialist 
hi-tech, high value applications comparable
with Rare Earths. The Rare Metals
mineralisation at Mt Weld is separate 
from the Rare Earths deposit currently
planned for development. It is hosted by 
similar residual iron and aluminium oxides
and phosphatic minerals concentrated 
by weathering of the underlying 
carbonatite intrusion. 

Wide-spaced exploration drilling during 
the 1980’s intersected apparently isolated
patches of high grade Rare Metal
mineralisation. Lynas is studying and
developing a potentially viable route for 
the separation and refining of the various
Rare Metals. The process route consists 
of a number of stages, each based on
mature technology, but assembled in 
a unique configuration. The route also
produces saleable by-products from the
main gangue elements, iron, phosphorus
and aluminium.

Initial investigations of the capability of
existing plants and process technology 
in China, and preliminary estimates of
engineering, operating and ore transport
costs were strongly encouraging and the
decision was made to revisit the potential
resources available at Mt Weld. 

Exploration drilling, resource estimation and
engineering studies during the past year
have started to reveal the large scale and
value of extensive occurrences of Rare
Metals at Mt Weld. A detailed study 
is underway.

An air core reverse drilling program was
completed in May this year for a total 
of 8,000 metres in 121 drill holes. All
potentially mineralised samples were
analysed for 32 elements, which included
the target Rare Metals suite plus gangue
elements. Together with veritable assays
from historical drilling programs, these data
were used by resource analysts, Hellman 
& Schofield, to construct a detailed, three-
dimensional geostatistical resource model
covering more than 12 square kilometres 
of the carbonatite complex from the surface 
to approximately 100 metres depth. 

The costs and values were investigated 
and assembled by the Lynas team in Beijing
and Sydney with input from Australian and
Chinese consulting engineers. 

Lynas is seeking to identify the Mt Weld
Rare Metals resources that can support 
a highly profitable mining and processing
project based in Australia and/or China 
for more than 20 years. Although Lynas is
currently focussed on development of the
Central Lanthanide Deposit and its Rare
Earths resources, the economic attraction 
of the Rare Metals resources at Mt Weld
strongly encourages investment of time and
resources to take the Rare Metals project 
to the next stage of feasibility study.

At the time of this report, the drilling results
are being evaluated to enable our resource
to be defined to JORC code standards.
These results will be released to the market
in October 2004.

Zircon is used as an opacifier in ceramics.

Titanium metal is widely used in the 
aerospace industry.

Tantalum and Niobium are widely used 
in the manufacture of capacitors for the 
electronics industry.



Cerium is added to 
automotive windscreen 
glass to absorb harmful 

UV radiation

Environmentally friendly
yttrium replaces lead 

as the active ingredient 
in the anti-corrosive 

coatings used in 
the manufacture 
of automobiles

Yttrium and lanthanum 
play an important role 
in the development of 
fuel cell technology for 
future energy efficient 

hydrogen vehicles

Lanthanum and
cerium play a key role 

in the reduction of 
greenhouse gases through 

their unique application 
in auto catalysts

Neodymium magnets 
are the driving force 

behind the many small 
electric motors and 
mechanical systems 
within your vehicle

Toyota Prius uses
Rare Earths within their

NiMH batteries which are
a fundamental component

for the efficiency of
hybrid vehicles 

Rare Earths
in Automotive
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The Rare Earths Market
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In many industry sectors, product
development engineers are reaching
the technological limits of traditional
materials. They are turning to new
materials to maintain the pace of 
hi-tech advancement in society today.
New materials and novel applications
of them enable companies to produce
more efficient, higher performance 
and cleaner products that have 
a technological edge over their
competition. 

The Rare Earths series of elements
has a range of unique metallurgical,
chemical, catalytic, electrical, magnetic
and optical properties that enable
them to play a major role in the
advancement of materials technology. 

Rare Earths Demand
As forecast last year, the Rare Earths
market has seen a significant recovery
in both volumes and prices. Chart 1
outlines the historical and forecast
demand for Rare Earths over a 14-year
period. This data is drawn from a
number of independent sources and
then correlated with Lynas’ internal
analysis. Demand for Rare Earths
increased during the 2004 financial
year, and the 2003 Lynas forecast of
the Rare Earths market growing to
86,500 TREO by 2005 is on track.

Rare Earths processors in China have
reported demand to be approaching
record levels set in 2001. Stockpiles
created during the 2002 slow down
appear to have been exhausted for
most Rare Earths elements and
inventory levels are normalising.

Chart 1. Historical and Forecast Rare Earths Demand and Prices 
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The recovery in the global economy 
in general and automotive and
electronics industries have been
strong drivers in this growth in
demand. In particular, the demand 
for consumer electronics such as
digital cameras, dvd players, and new
generation LCD and plasma displays
for televisions and computers. 

The Rare Earths imports to 
Japan grew by 15% in 2003 and
indications for 2004 show this growth 
is accelerating. In January 2004 the
import of Rare Earths consumed in
nickel-metal hydride batteries and
Rare Earths magnets rose by 39%.
Lanthanum oxide used for glass in
camera lenses rose by 72% over the
same period of the previous year.
Additionally, China’s robust growth in
domestic manufacturing has seen a
large increase in the volume of Rare 
Earths being consumed in China.
Announcements regarding significant
production capacity increases by 
the major electronic manufacturing
corporations underpin the forecast
projections for Rare Earths demand.

New applications for Rare Earths
continue to reach commercialisation.
For example Sanyo are the first air
conditioning manufacturer to release
their next generation technology that
is based on a DC compressor driven
by Rare Earths magnets. 

The Japanese output of Rare Earths
magnets grew by 19% year-on-year 
in the first quarter of 2004. This
growth figure underestimates the
global growth in this market as many
Japanese producers are relocating to
China in order to source Rare Earth
magnetic materials locally. In addition,
many Chinese companies have
entered this market as Japanese 
and European patent protection 
for magnetic materials expire.

Penetration of Rare Earths magnets
into traditional ferrite magnet
applications will continue to increase,
especially within the automotive sector
where power to weight and size ratios
are important. 



The Rare Earths Market 
Continued
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Rare Earths Supply
Supply has been restricted this year.
In September 2003, the Russian 
Rare Earths mine on the Kola
Peninsular was reportedly closed 
due to exhaustion of resource. 
Mining operations at the only Rare
Earths mine in the USA, at Mt Pass,
continued to be suspended. The
source of supply is consolidating into 
China as alternative supplies have
become exhausted, environmentally
unacceptable or economically
unviable. China now supplies well 
over 90% of the global demand 
for Rare Earths raw material. 

China is also reportedly closing Rare
Earths mines due to environmental
concerns. This has already occurred
in the Sichuan province. The Chinese
Ministry of Land and Resources
issued regulations this year requiring 
a review of mining permits, health and
safety standards, and environmental
protection for all mineral reserves and
mining projects involved in the
production of Rare Earths.

Chinese Rare Earths cracking 
plants have also been forced to 
halt production due to serious
environmental pollution. Those with
access to capital are improving
production techniques and pollutant
controls to meet Chinese environmental
protection regulations. 

Production costs for Chinese Rare
Earths processors are being affected
by this tightening of raw material
supply and increased environmental
control costs. Lynas has a number 
of competitive advantages here;
ownership of the source of supply
removes the tight raw material supply
issue, and the significantly lower
Fluorine and Thorium content of 
Mt Weld ore compared to Chinese 
ore reduces the capital and
operational costs for environmental
controls of the processing plant. 

The growing power, industrial
chemicals, and transportation costs 
in China are also increasing production
costs in China, especially in Baotou,
Inner Mongolia where the majority 
of Chinese Rare Earths are sourced. 
The planned location for Lynas’
processing plant is near the coast
within a major industrial chemical
region, where better control of costs
can be achieved. This increased 
cost of production in China still
remains significantly lower than 
the comparative capital and operating
costs of an Australian operation,
supporting Lynas’ decision to 
move all processing to China. 

Table 1. Rare Earths Prices FOB China (US$/kg)

Rare Earths Oxide Price Price Price change
(Purity 99% min) Jun-03 Jun-04 2003 – 2004

Lanthanum Oxide 1.55 1.62 5%

Cerium Oxide 1.65 1.56 -5%

Neodymium Oxide 4.25 5.75 35%

Praseodymium Oxide 4.02 8.15 103%

Samarium Oxide 2.67 2.67 0%

Dysprosium Oxide 14.40 32.00 122%

Europium Oxide 233.00 300.00 29%

Terbium Oxide 170.00 360.00 112%

Av. Mt Weld Composition 3.48 4.36 25%

■ Gas lighting ■ Gas lighter flints
■ Glass decoloration

■ Fluorescent lighting
■ Steel stripping

■ Camera optics
■ Glass polishing powders
■ White ceramic enamel

1950s1930s1900s1880s
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Rare Earths Prices
Strong demand and an increase in
production costs have lead to a rise in
Rare Earths prices. Also contributing
to the price rises was the Chinese
government decision, effective from
1st January 2004, to reduce the VAT
rebate on exports of Rare Earths from
15% to zero for basic oxides, and
15% to 5% for metals and other value
added products. This in effect has
removed a tax break from exporting
Rare Earths processors, the impact 
of which has been passed on to the
exporting customer as price increases.

Table 1 shows the price increases
over the financial year for the
individual elements and for a generic
composite of Rare Earths, equivalent
to the Rare Earths distribution at 
Mt Weld, on a FOB China basis for
basic 99% purity oxides. Chart 1
shows the historical and current price
for this generic composite. A forecast
for 2005 is also given showing a 
17% price rise for 2005 to US$5.13
for the average Mt Weld composition.
This Lynas forecast is supported 
by the demand forecast discussed
above. In addition, this is less
aggressive than the price forecast 
of US$5.77 released by a group of
seven large Rare Earths separation
companies in China whose capacity
accounts for more than 50% of the
total Rare Earths capacity in China.

Note that higher purity oxides and
other value added properties would
have higher prices than those shown.

Chart 2 shows that Mt Weld not only
has a 34% higher metal value per
kilogram of Rare Earths content, but
also has a better balance between
light and heavy Rare Earths with a 

60%:40% split compared to our 
main competitor, Baotou, which has 
a 80%:20% split and therefore more
dependent on light Rare Earths prices. 

Light Rare Earth Oxides: Lanthanum Cerium Neodymium Praseodymium

Heavy Rare Earth Oxides: Samarium Dysprosium Europium Terbium

Chart 2. Relative Composition and Value of Rare Earths Resources
(Rare Earths oxide purity 99% minimum)

Mt Weld, Australia
(by value)

100% = US$4.36/kg 100% = US$3.26/kg

Baotou, China
(by value)

Table 2. Relative Composition and Value of Rare Earths Resources

Rare Earths Oxide Mt Weld, Australia Baotou, China
(Purity 99% min) by weight by weight

Lanthanum Oxide 26% 26%

Cerium Oxide 47% 51%

Neodymium Oxide 19% 16%

Praseodymium Oxide 5.3% 5.4%

Samarium Oxide 2.3% 1.1%

Dysprosium Oxide 0.12% 0.06%

Europium Oxide 0.44% 0.18%

Terbium Oxide 0.07% 0.02%

1980s 1990s 2000s

■ TV red phosphor
■ Oil cracking catalyst

■ Laptop computers
■ Trichromatic lamps
■ Samarium magnets
■ Autocatalysts (gasoline)
■ Fibre optic communication

■ Mobile telephones
■ Neodymium magnets
■ Autocatalysts (diesel)
■ Coloured pigments 
■ Fuel cells

■ NiMH batteries
■ Multilayer ceramic 
 capacitors
■ Plasma screens
■ MRI imaging
■ Pharmaceutical

1970s



Your Directors submit their report for the year ended 30 June 2004.

DIRECTORS
The names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities of the Company’s Directors in office during the financial year
and until the date of this report are outlined on page 7. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Mr Andrew Lupton was an Executive Director and was the Vice President Corporate and Marketing until his resignation on 
22 October 2003.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ivo Polovineo PNA, MNIA

Mr Polovineo has been the Company Secretary for Lynas Corporation Limited for the past 3 years. He has spent over 18 years in senior
management roles in the resource sector including over 15 years as Company Secretary of a number of listed public companies.

Interests in the shares and options of the Company and related bodies corporate
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of Lynas Corporation Limited were:

Ordinary Shares Options over Employee Options
Ordinary Shares over Ordinary Shares

Brian Davidson 758,000 – 300,000

Nicholas Curtis 15,564,192 – 2,000,000

Harold Ou Wang 800,000 – 1,500,000

David Davidson 635,000 – 300,000

EARNINGS PER SHARE Cents

Basic earnings per share (2.35)

Diluted earnings per share (2.35)

DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been declared or recommended since the end of the previous financial year.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate structure
Lynas Corporation Limited is a Company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Lynas Corporation
Limited has prepared a consolidated financial report incorporating the entities that it controlled during the financial year, which
are outlined in the following illustration of the group’s corporate structure:

Nature of operations and principal activities
The principal activities during the year of entities within the consolidated entity were:

■ Exploration and development of Rare Earths deposits;

■ Exploration for other mineral resources.

Employees
The consolidated entity employed 17 employees as at 30 June 2004 (2003: 18 employees).

Directors’ Report
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REVIEW AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Group Overview
During the year to 30 June 2004 the Company issued a further 60,680,383 shares following exercise of listed options, 
unlisted options, employee options and convertible notes.

Group Parent
Operating Results for the Year $ $

Revenue 734,546 734,546

Loss before depreciation and interest (3,827,742) (3,821,842)

Depreciation and interest (595,028) (595,028)

Loss from operations before income tax (4,422,770) (4,416,870)

Income tax expense – –

Net loss (4,422,770) (4,416,870)

Performance Indicators
Management and the Board monitor the group’s overall performance, from its implementation of the mission statement and
strategic plan through to the performance of the Company against operating plans and financial budgets.

The Board, together with management, have identified key performance indicators (KPIs) that are used to monitor performance.
Management monitor KPIs on a regular basis. Directors receive the KPIs for review prior to each monthly Board meeting
allowing all Directors to actively monitor the group’s performance.

Investments for Future Performance
The activities during the past financial year have all been directed toward the implementation of the integrated RED model and
development of the Mt Weld Project. 

On 28 January 2004 Lynas Corporation Limited acquired, by private agreement, 3,180,375 common shares of AMR
Technologies Inc. (“AMR”), a Canadian company whose shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, at a price of C$2.35
per share from Whiterock Investments Ltd of Singapore. This acquisition increased Lynas’ total holding to 3,316,375 common
shares of AMR representing 19.92% of the 16,645,100 common shares at the date of acquisition.

AMR is an international technology company that engineers Rare Earths, zirconium and magnetic powders. Over the past ten
years AMR has become the second largest producer of advanced Rare Earths in the world. AMR has manufacturing facilities 
in China and Thailand, and a nanotechnology research and development centre in the UK. Annual sales of approximately
US$50m are achieved across all global Rare Earths markets – South Korea, Japan, Europe, China and the United States. 

The strategic value of this investment is underpinned by the value of the integrated RED model. The Directors of Lynas 
believe AMR’s market presence, manufacturing facilities and Rare Earths industry experience strongly complements Lynas’ 
Rare Earths activities.

Review of Financial Condition

Capital Structure
At the start of the period the Company had 151,847,842 shares on issue. During the period 60,680,383 shares were issued
following exercise of listed options, unlisted options, employee options and convertible notes. At the end of the period there
were 212,528,225 ordinary shares and 26,585,404 unlisted options on ordinary shares on issue.

At the end of the period there are also 155 convertible notes outstanding which, if converted, would add a further 72,333,385
ordinary shares to give a total of 311,447,014 ordinary shares on a fully diluted basis.

It should be noted that the Company has sought legal advice that endorses the view that the Company may have the right to
refuse conversion of the 100 convertible notes currently held by CMIEC (Australia) Pty Limited.

Cash from Operations
Cash inflows from operating activities for the current year of $671,251 represent interest received on funds at bank, and rental
received for surplus premises.

Cash outflows from operating activities of $5,780,380 substantially reflect the operating costs involved in undertaking the
feasibility study of the Mt Weld Project. The prior year operating cash outflows were $6,447,599.
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Liquidity and Funding
The group has an unsecured liability for $7.75 million associated with outstanding convertible notes as at 30 June 2004 if such
notes are not converted by their maturity date (November 2006). The group has sufficient funds to finance its operations for the
next financial year with the exception of additional capital which it will seek to raise during the next financial year to commence
development of the mining and concentration operations.

Risk Management
The group takes a proactive approach to risk management. The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also
opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and that the group’s objectives and activities are aligned with the risks and
opportunities identified by the Board.

The group believes that it is crucial for Board members to be a part of this process, and as such has established a Safety,
Health, Environment & Community (SHEC) Committee which manages the risks of the Company and the interface with the
community in which it operates. 

The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that management’s objectives and activities are aligned with the
risks identified by the Board. 

Statement of Compliance
The report is based on the guidelines in The Group of 100 Incorporated publication Guide to the Review of Operations and
Financial Condition.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
Shareholders’ equity increased after a further $19,501,454 capital was raised through share issues from the conversion of listed
options, unlisted options and convertible notes and these funds continue to be used to finance feasibility studies, acquisitions
and working capital.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE
At the date of this report there are no material events post balance date that require to be disclosed other than the exercise 
of the 1,000,000 July 2004 options, the lapsing of the 343,750 July 2004 options, and the excercise of 5 convertible notes 
of $50,000 each to equity.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS
The Company intends raising funds and commencing project development over the next 12 months.

The Company does not intend disposing of its investment in the shares of AMR Technologies Inc.

SHARE OPTIONS 

Unissued shares
As at year end the Company had on issue the following options to acquire ordinary fully paid shares:

Description Number Expiry date Exercise price

Unlisted options 1,000,000 July 2004 $0.30c

Unlisted options 343,750 July 2004 $0.36c

Incentive Plan options 9,375,000 Various dates beyond November 2004 $0.25c

Unlisted options 4,266,656 November 2006 $0.20c

Unlisted options 3,000,000 November 2006 $0.20c

Incentive Plan options 300,000 November 2007 $0.30c

Unlisted options 7,500,000 November 2007 $0.30c

Unlisted options 799,998 November 2007 $0.20c

Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue of the Company or any related
body corporate or in the interest issue of any other registered scheme.

Directors’ Report
Continued

20 LYNAS CORPORATION LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT 2004



Directors’ Report
Continued

Shares issued as a result of the exercise of options
During the financial year, the following options were exercised:

■ 32,421,494 listed options at an exercise price of $0.40 each,

■ 3,100,000 employees options at an exercise price of $0.25 each and

■ 933,331 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.20 each.

The holders of 59,670 listed options did not exercise and therefore forfeited their rights. 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
During or since the financial year, the Company has paid premiums in respect of a contract insuring all the Directors of Lynas
Corporation Ltd against costs incurred in defending proceedings for conduct involving:

(a) a wilful breach of duty; or

(b) a contravention of sections 182 or 183 of the Corporations Act 2001,

as permitted by section 199B of the Corporations Act 2001.

The total amount of insurance contract premiums paid was $99,655. This amount is not included as part of the Directors
remuneration in Note 27.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE
The consolidated entity is bound by the requirements of the relevant environmental protection authorities for the management
and rehabilitation of tenements owned or previously owned by the group. Tenements are being maintained and rehabilitated
following these guidelines. There have been no known breaches of any of these conditions.

DIRECTORS’ AND OTHER OFFICERS’ EMOLUMENTS

Remuneration policy
The Board of Directors is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors, the Chief
Executive Officer and the Executive team. The Board assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of emoluments of
such Officers on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring
maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and Executive team. 

To assist in achieving these objectives, the Board links the nature and amount of Executive Directors’ and Officers’ emoluments
to the Company’s financial and operational performance. All senior Executives have the opportunity to qualify for participation in
the Employee Share Incentive Plan which currently provides cash incentives where specified criteria are met including criteria
relating to profitability, cash flow, share price growth and environmental performance. Details regarding the issue of share
options under this plan are provided in Note 22 to the Financial Statements.

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emolument of each Director of the Company and each of the Executive
Officers of the Company and the consolidated entity for the financial year are as follows:

Annual Emoluments Long Term Emoluments

Base Fee Bonus Other Termination Options@ Super-
$ $ $ & Similar annuation

Payments $
$

Number $ % of
granted Amortised Remun-

cost meration

N Curtis 319,852 – 2,700 – – 8,800 2.4% 27,935

A Lupton 41,284 – – 308,613 – 6,600 1.8% 3,716

O Wang 200,000 – *50,000 – – 6,600 2.4% 16,514

B Davidson 55,000 – – – – 1,320 1.7% 20,000

D Davidson 50,000 – – – – 6,540 11.6% –

* Living Away From Home Allowance

LYNAS CORPORATION LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT 2004 21



Emoluments* of the Executive Officers# of the Company and the consolidated entity

Annual Emoluments Long Term Emoluments

Base Fee Bonus Other Termination Options@ Super
$ $ $ & Similar -annuation

Payments $
$

Number $
granted Amortised 

cost

M Vaisey 208,857 – – – – 1,100 18,797

M Whillier 193,720 – – – – 2,200 17,435

M James 208,716 – – – – 1,327 18,784

Notes

The terms ‘Director’ and ‘Officer’ have been treated as mutually exclusive for the purposes of this disclosure.

* The elements of emoluments have been determined on the basis of the cost to the Company and the consolidated entity.

# Executives are those directly accountable and responsible for the operational management and strategic direction of the Company and the consolidated entity.

@ The Company uses the fair value measurement provisions of AASB1046 “Director and Executive Disclosures for Disclosing Entities” and the pending AASB2
“Share-based Payment” prospectively for all options granted to Directors and relevant Executives, which have not vested as at 1 July 2003. The fair value of
such grants is being amortised and disclosed as part of Director and Executive emoluments on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. No adjustments
have been or will be made to reverse amounts previously disclosed in relation to options that never vest (i.e. forfeitures).

From 1 July 2003, options granted as part of Director and Executive emoluments have been valued using a Binomial option pricing model, which takes account
of factors including the option exercise price, the current level and volatility of the underlying share price, the risk-free interest rate, expected dividends on the
underlying share, current market price of the underlying share and the expected life of the option. See below for further details. 

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using a Binomial option-pricing model with the following weighted
average assumptions for grants made on 30 November 2001, 30 November 2002 and 30 June 2003:

30 November 2001 30 November 2002 30 June 2003

Dividend yield Nil Nil Nil

Expected volatility 25.6% 26.2% 25.8%

Historical volatility 25.6% 26.2% 25.8%

Risk-free interest rate 4.47% 4.89% 4.39%

Expected life of option 5 years 5 years 5 years

No dividends have been paid in the past and hence it is not appropriate to estimate future possible dividends in the calculations.
The expected life of the options is based on historical data and not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur.
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

The resulting weighted average fair values per option for those options vesting after 1 July 2003 are:

Number Grant Vesting Weighted average 
of options date date fair value

4,550,000 30 November 2001 30 November 2006 $0.02

400,000 30 November 2002 30 November 2007 $0.04

870,000 30 June 2003 30 June 2008 $0.01

Currently these fair values are not recognised as expenses in the Financial Statements. However, should these grants be
expensed, they would be amortised over the vesting periods resulting in an increase in employee benefits expense of $30,521
for the 2004 financial year (2003: $29,149). Note that no adjustments to these amounts have been made to reflect estimated 
or actual forfeitures (i.e. options that do not vest).
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of meetings of Directors (including meetings of Committees of Directors) held during the year and the number of
meetings attended by each Director were as follows:

Directors’
Meetings Meetings of Committees

Audit Nomination and Safety, Health,
Remuneration Environment 

& Community

Number of meetings held: 7 2 2 1

Number of meetings attended:

B Davidson 7 2 2

N Curtis 7 2 1

H Wang 6

D Davidson 7 2 1

A Lupton (resigned 22 October 2003) 1

Committee membership
As at the date of this report, the Company had an Audit Committee, a Nomination and Remuneration Committee and a Finance
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Members acting on the Committees of the Board during the year were:

Nomination Safety, Health, 
and Environment & 

Audit Remuneration Community

B Davidson (c) B Davidson (c) D Davidson (c)
N Curtis D Davidson N Curtis

(c) Committee Chairman

TAX CONSOLIDATION
Effective 1 July 2002, for the purposes of income taxation, Lynas Corporation Limited and its 100% owned subsidiaries have 
formed a tax consolidated group. Members of the group have entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate
income tax expense to the wholly-owned subsidiaries on a pro-rata basis. In addition the agreement provides for the 
allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of Lynas Corporation
Limited seek to ensure appropriate and effective corporate governance. The Company’s corporate governance statement is
contained in the following section of this annual report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

B Davidson N Curtis

Director Director

Sydney, 25 August 2004
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The Board of Directors of Lynas Corporation Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the consolidated entity. 
The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of Lynas Corporation Limited on behalf of the shareholders by 
whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable.

The format of the Corporate Governance Statement has changed in comparison to the previous year due to the introduction 
of the Australian Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Council’s best practice recommendations. In accordance with the
Council’s recommendations, the Corporate Governance Statement must now contain certain specific information and also
report on the Company’s adoption of the Council’s best practice recommendations on an exception basis, whereby disclosure 
is required of any recommendations that have not been adopted by the Company, together with the reasons why they have not
been adopted. Lynas Corporation Limited’s corporate governance principles and policies are therefore structured with reference
to the Corporate Governance Council’s best practice recommendations, which are as follows:

Principle 1. Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

Principle 2. Structure the Board to add value

Principle 3. Promote ethical and responsible decision making

Principle 4. Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

Principle 5. Make timely and balanced disclosure

Principle 6. Respect the rights of shareholders

Principle 7. Recognise and manage risk

Principle 8. Encourage enhanced performance

Principle 9. Remunerate fairly and responsibly

Principle 10. Recognise the legitimate interests of stakeholders

Independence
Corporate Governance Council Recommendation 2.1 requires a majority of the Board to be independent Directors. In addition,
Recommendation 2.2 requires the chairperson of the Company to be independent. The Corporate Governance Council defines
independence as being free from any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with – or could reasonably be
perceived to materially interfere with – the exercise of unfettered and independent judgement.

In accordance with the definition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, Brian Davidson and David Davidson
are viewed as independent Directors of Lynas Corporation Limited. Whilst having had associations with the Company in the
past, the Board does not view this as interfering with the exercise of unfettered and independent judgement.

In accordance with Corporate Governance Council Recommendation 2.1, Lynas Corporation Limited anticipates appointing an
additional independent Director during the forthcoming year.

There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable Directors, in furtherance of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense.

The term in office held by each Director in office at the date of this report is as follows:

Name Term in office Name Term in office

B Davidson 3 years N Curtis 3 years

H Wang 3 years D Davidson 2 years

For additional details regarding Board appointments, please refer to our website.

Corporate Governance Statement
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Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Recommendation 2.4 requires listed entities to establish a Nomination Committee. During the year ended 30 June 2004, 
Lynas Corporation Limited operated a joint Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The duties and responsibilities typically
delegated to such a Committee are expressly included in the Board’s own charter as being the responsibility of the full Board.
The Board does not believe that any marked efficiencies or enhancements would be achieved by the creation of a separate
Nomination Committee.

The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors themselves and the 
Chief Executive Officer and the Executive team. The Board has established, as a single unit, a Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, comprising two Non-Executive Directors. Members of this Committee throughout the year were:

B Davidson (c)

D Davidson

Audit Committee
The Board has established an Audit Committee, which operates under a charter approved by the Board. It is the Board’s
responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the entity. This includes internal controls to 
deal with both the effectiveness and efficiency of significant business processes, the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance
of proper accounting records, and the reliability of financial information as well as non-financial considerations such as the
benchmarking of operational key performance indicators. The Board has delegated the responsibility for the establishment 
and maintenance of a framework of internal control and ethical standards for the management of the consolidated entity to 
the Audit Committee.

The Committee also provides the Board with additional assurance regarding the reliability of financial information for inclusion 
in the financial reports. 

Recommendation 4.3 deals with the structure of the Audit Committee and requires independence of the members of the 
Audit Committee.

Lynas Corporation Limited has only been admitted to the ASX/S&P top 300 all ordinaries listing during the year 30 June 2004
and has not complied during the year. However, the skills and experience brought by the members of the Audit Committee are
such that the Board does not believe that any marked efficiencies or enhancements would be achieved by a change during
the period.

The Board of Lynas Corporation Limited intends to comply with Recommendation 4.3 in the ensuing financial year.

The members of the Audit Committee during the year were: 

B Davidson (c)

N Curtis

Qualifications of Audit Committee members
Mr Davidson LL.B. (Hons) is Chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr Davidson is a consultant to Deacons, a major national 
law firm, having retired as a Partner on 30 June 2004. He has over 35 years experience in corporate and commercial law,
particularly in the natural resources industry and is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. He has been a
Director of many listed public companies including Carr Boyd Minerals Ltd and is presently a Director of Sino Gold Limited 
and a number of private company groups.

Mr Curtis is the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company; he is the Chairman of Sino Gold Limited, an Australian
listed public company with gold mining operations in China; Chairman of St Vincent and Mater Health Sydney Limited; Director
of Garvan Institute of Medical Research; and President of Australia China Business Council NSW Branch. His background 
is in resources banking and financing based on more than 20 years as a professional in the futures, commodities and
stockbroking industries.

For details on the number of meetings of the Audit Committee held during the year and the attendees at those meetings, 
refer to page 23 of the Directors’ Report.
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Performance 
The performance of the Board and key Executives is reviewed regularly against both measurable and qualitative indicators.
During the reporting period, the Nomination Committee conducted two performance evaluations which involved an
assessment of each Board member’s and key Executive’s performance against specific and measurable qualitative and
quantitative performance criteria. The performance criteria against which Directors and Executives are assessed are aligned
with the financial and non-financial objectives of Lynas Corporation Limited. Directors whose performance is consistently 
unsatisfactory may be asked to retire.

Remuneration
It is the Company’s objective to provide maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and Executive
team by remunerating Directors and key Executives fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant employment market
conditions. To assist in achieving this objective, the Remuneration Committee links the nature and amount of Executive
Directors’ and Officers’ emoluments to the Company’s financial and operational performance. The expected outcomes 
of the remuneration structure are:

■ Retention and motivation of key Executives

■ Attraction of quality management to the Company

■ Performance incentives which allow Executives to share the rewards of the success of Lynas Corporation Limited

For details on the amount of remuneration and all monetary and non-monetary components for each of the Non-Director
Executives during the year and for all Directors, refer to pages 21 and 22 of the Directors’ Report. In relation to the payment of
bonuses, options and other incentive payments, discretion is exercised by the Board, having regard to the overall performance
of Lynas Corporation Limited and the performance of the individual during the period. 

There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation, to Non-Executive Directors.

The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors themselves and the
Chief Executive Officer and the Executive team. The Board has established a Remuneration Committee, comprising the 
Non-Executive Directors. Members of the Remuneration Committee throughout the year were:

B Davidson (c)

D Davidson

For details on the number of meetings of the Remuneration Committee held during the year and the attendees at those
meetings, refer to page 23 of the Directors’ Report.

Safety, Health, Environment and Community (SHEC) Committee
During April 2003 the Board recognised the need for the SHEC Committee, to prepare the Company for the emerging Mt Weld
project. The principal objective is to receive reports and consult with management to monitor and review, on behalf of the
Board, the due compliance of the Company with laws, regulations and policies relating to the following:

■ workplace health and safety

■ environmental matters and

■ community relationships.

The key activities of the Committee are:-

■ ensuring appropriate policies are in place and regularly reviewing those policies

■ ensuring that appropriate systems are implemented to monitor and measure compliance with the enacted policies and the
maintenance of the adherence to these systems 

■ reporting to the Board on its deliberations and recommending appropriate courses of action as necessary.

The members of the SHEC Committee during the year were: 

D Davidson (c)

N Curtis 
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Statement of Financial Performance
30 June 2004

LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

REVENUES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 2 734,546 747,300 734,546 247,300

EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Depreciation expense 3 (127,629) (192,136) (127,629) (192,136)

Borrowing costs expense 3 (467,399) (348,684) (467,399) (348,684)

Salaries and employee benefits expense (2,752,119) (2,468,516) (2,752,119) (2,468,516)

Cost of disposal of shares in controlled entity – (500,000) – –

Forgiveness of subsidiary company debt – – – (133,755)

Other expenses from ordinary activities 3 (1,810,169) (2,324,802) (1,804,269) (2,324,802)

LOSS FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE 
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (4,422,770) (5,086,838) (4,416,870) (5,220,593)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE RELATING TO 
ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 4 – – – –

NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS OF 
LYNAS CORPORATION LIMITED 19 (4,422,770) (5,086,838) (4,416,870) (5,220,593)

Share issue costs – (319,507) – (319,507)

TOTAL EXPENSES ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS 
OF LYNAS CORPORATION LIMITED AND RECOGNISED 
DIRECTLY IN EQUITY – (319,507) – (319,507)

TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY OTHER THAN THOSE 
RESULTING FROM TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS AS 
OWNERS ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS OF 
LYNAS CORPORATION LTD (4,422,770) (5,406,345) (4,416,870) (5,540,100)

Basic loss per share (cents per share) 25 (2.35) (4.52) (2.35) (4.52)

Diluted loss per share (cents per share) 25 (2.35) (4.52) (2.35) (4.52)
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LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash assets 12,352,556 3,183,876 12,352,543 3,183,865

Receivables 6 356,161 128,101 356,161 128,101

Other 7 2,716 148,246 2,716 148,246

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 12,711,433 3,460,223 12,711,420 3,460,212

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables 8 – – 12,158,752 11,205,435

Investments 9 7,670,021 – 10,714,659 3,044,638

Property, plant and equipment 10 366,767 162,047 366,767 162,047

Deferred exploration, evaluation and development costs 11 15,766,074 14,252,021 530,823 –

Other 12 – 71,527 – 71,527

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 23,802,862 14,485,595 23,771,001 14,483,647

TOTAL ASSETS 36,514,295 17,945,818 36,482,421 17,943,859

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 13 801,716 1,608,222 763,942 1,606,263

Interest bearing liabilities 14 57,443 – 57,443 –

Provisions 15 282,182 482,168 282,182 482,168

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,141,341 2,090,390 1,103,567 2,088,431

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing liabilities 16 7,750,000 3,227,828 7,750,000 3,227,828

Provisions 17 364,076 447,406 364,076 447,406

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 8,114,076 3,675,234 8,114,076 3,675,234

TOTAL LIABILITIES 9,255,417 5,765,624 9,217,643 5,763,665

NET ASSETS 27,258,878 12,180,194 27,264,778 12,180,194

EQUITY
Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 18 48,563,869 29,062,415 48,563,869 29,062,415

Accumulated losses 19 (21,304,991) (16,882,221) (21,299,091) (16,882,221)

TOTAL EQUITY 27,258,878 12,180,194 27,264,778 12,180,194

Statement of Financial Position
30 June 2004

28 LYNAS CORPORATION LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT 2004



Statement of Cash Flows
30 June 2004

LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from rental 109,159 233,276 109,159 229,236

Payments to suppliers and employees (5,510,618) (6,441,549) (5,540,533) (8,513,100)

Interest received 562,092 87,826 562,092 87,826

Borrowing costs (269,762) (6,050) (269,762) (6,050)

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 20 (5,109,129) (6,126,497) (5,139,044) (8,202,088)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10(a) (396,978) (18,391) (396,978) (18,391)

Proceeds from sale of shares in controlled entity 2 – 500,000 – 500,000

Proceeds from sale of tenement 2 – 25,000 – 25,000

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2 63,295 – 63,295 –

Purchase of investments (7,670,021) – (7,670,021) –

Security bonds lodged (228,060) – (228,060) –

Advances to subsidiary company – – (859,950) –

Payments for exploration (1,420,686) (2,075,591) (530,823) –

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (9,652,450) (1,568,982) (9,622,537) 506,609

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issues of ordinary shares 18(b) 13,930,259 6,450,000 13,930,259 6,450,000

Payment of share issue costs 18(b) – (319,507) – (319,507)

Proceeds from borrowings 10,000,000 3,500,000 10,000,000 3,500,000

Repayments of borrowings – (500,000) – (500,000)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 23,930,259 9,130,493 23,930,259 9,130,493

NET INCREASE IN CASH HELD 9,168,680 1,435,014 9,168,678 1,435,014
Add opening cash brought forward 3,183,876 1,748,862 3,183,865 1,748,851

CLOSING CASH CARRIED FORWARD 20(b) 12,352,556 3,183,876 12,352,543 3,183,865
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of accounting
The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Corporations Act 2001 including applicable Accounting Standards. Other mandatory professional reporting requirements
(Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views) have also been complied with.

The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.

(b) Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year.

(c) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated Financial Statements are those of the consolidated entity, comprising Lynas Corporation Limited 
(the parent Company) and all entities that Lynas Corporation Limited controlled from time to time during the year and 
at reporting date.

Information from the Financial Statements of subsidiaries is included from the date the parent Company obtains control
until such time as control ceases. Where there is loss of control of a subsidiary, the Consolidated Financial Statements
include the results for the part of the reporting period during which the parent Company has control.

Subsidiary acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.

The Financial Statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent Company, using
consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been
eliminated in full. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless costs cannot be recovered.

(d) Foreign currencies

Translation of foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies of entities within the consolidated entity are converted to local currency at the rate of
exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency monetary items that are outstanding at the reporting date (other than monetary items arising under
foreign currency contracts where the exchange rate for that monetary item is fixed in the contract) are translated using the
spot rate at the end of the financial year. 

All resulting exchange differences arising on settlement or re-statement are recognised as revenues and expenses for the
financial year. 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and in banks and short-term deposits are stated at nominal value.

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, and money market
investments readily convertible to cash within 2 working days, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(f) Receivables
Receivables from related parties are recognised and carried at the nominal amount due. 

Funds on deposit are measured at nominal value.

(g) Investments
Interests in listed and unlisted securities are brought to account at cost, and dividend income is recognised in the
Statement of Financial Performance when received.

All non-current investments are carried at the lower of cost and recoverable amount.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2004

Continued

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Recoverable amount
Non-current assets measured using the cost basis are not carried at an amount above their recoverable amount, and
where a carrying value exceeds this recoverable amount, the asset is written down. In determining recoverable amount,
the expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present value using a market determined risk adjusted
discount rate of 12%.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

Cost and valuation
All classes of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost.

Where assets have been revalued, the potential effect of the capital gains tax on disposal has not been taken into account
in the determination of the revalued carrying amount. Where it is expected that a liability for capital gains tax will arise, this
expected amount is disclosed by way of note.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment.

Major depreciation periods are: 2004 2003

Leasehold improvements: The lease term The lease term

Plant and equipment:

– furniture & fittings 5 years 5 years

– mine buildings, plant & equipment 5 to 15 years 5 to 15 years

– computer equipment and office machines 3 to 5 years 3 to 5 years

(j) Leases
Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the
agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Operating leases
The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and
benefits of ownership of the leased item, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis.

The lease incentive liability in relation to the non-cancellable operating lease is being reduced on an imputed interest basis
over the lease term (5 years) at the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the financial year in which they are incurred.

(k) Exploration, evaluation, development and restoration costs

Costs carried forward
Costs arising from exploration and evaluation activities are carried forward provided such costs are expected to be
recouped through successful development, or by sale, or where exploration and evaluation activities have not, at reporting
date, reached a stage to allow a reasonable assessment regarding the existence of economically recoverable reserves.

As the Mt Weld project has not yet reached final feasibility all evaluation costs including a proportion of overhead costs 
are deferred.

Grants and subsidies are offset against costs as incurred.

Costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest that is abandoned are written off in the year in which the decision 
to abandon is made.

Amortisation
Costs on productive areas are amortised over the life of the area of interest to which such costs relate on the production
output basis.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Exploration, evaluation, development and restoration costs (continued)

Restoration costs
Restoration costs that are expected to be incurred are provided for as part of the cost of the exploration, evaluation,
development, construction or production phases that give rise to the need for restoration. Accordingly, these costs 
are recognised gradually over the life of the facility as these phases occur. The costs include obligations relating to
reclamation, waste site closure, plant closure, platform removal and other costs associated with the restoration of the 
site. These estimates of the restoration obligations are based on anticipated technology and legal requirements and future
costs. Any changes in the estimates are adjusted on a retrospective basis. In determining the restoration obligations, the
entity has assumed no significant changes will occur in the relevant Federal and State legislation in relation to restoration
of such mines in the future. 

(l) Other non-current assets

Research and development costs
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred, except where future benefits are expected, beyond any
reasonable doubt, to exceed those costs. Where research and development costs are deferred such costs are amortised
over future periods on a basis related to expected future benefits. Unamortised costs are reviewed at each reporting date
to determine the amount (if any) that is no longer recoverable and any amount identified is written off.

Expenditure carried forward
Significant items of carry forward expenditure having a benefit or relationship to more than one period are written off over
the periods to which such benefit relates.

(m) Payables
Liabilities for trade creditors and other amounts are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in
the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the consolidated entity.

Payables to related parties are carried at the principal amount. Interest, when charged by the lender, is recognised as an
expense on an accrual basis.

Deferred cash settlements are recognised at the present value of the outstanding consideration payable on the acquisition
of an asset discounted at prevailing commercial borrowing rates.

Liabilities for trade creditors amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end
of the financial year and which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(n) Interest-bearing liabilities
All loans are measured at the principal amount. Interest is recognised as an expense as it accrues.

(o) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the economic entity has a legal, equitable or constructive obligation to make a future
sacrifice of economic benefits to other entities as a result of past transactions or other past events, it is probable that a
future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

A provision for dividends is not recognised as a liability unless the dividends are declared, determined or publicly
recommended on or before the reporting date.

(p) Contributed equity
Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company.

Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the share
proceeds received.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2004

Continued

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue
can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods
Revenue received from the sale or disposal of products, material or services during the exploration, evaluation or
development phases of operations is offset against deferred expenditure in respect of the area of interest or mineral
resource concerned.

Interest
Control of the right to receive the interest payment.

(r) Taxes

Income taxes
Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated
on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences. To the extent timing differences occur between the time
items are recognised in the Financial Statements and when items are taken into account in determining taxable income,
the net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates, is disclosed as a future income tax benefit or a
provision for deferred income tax. The net future income tax benefit relating to tax losses and timing differences is not
carried forward as an asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

■ where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which
case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as
applicable; and

■ receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or
payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising
from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as
operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority.

(s) Employee benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting date.
These benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and long service leave.

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and any other employee benefits expected to
be settled within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates
which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. All other employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present
value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. In determining the present value of future cash outflows, the market yield as at the reporting date on national
government bonds, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability, are used.

Employee benefit expenses and revenues arising in respect of the following categories:

■ wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, annual leave, long service leave, sick leave and other leave benefits; and

■ other types of employee benefits

are recognised against profits on a net basis in their respective categories.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Employee benefits (continued)
The value of the equity-based compensation scheme described in Note 22 is not being recognised as an employee
benefits expense.

In respect of the consolidated entity’s defined benefits superannuation plans, any contributions made to the
superannuation plans by entities within the consolidated entity are recognised against profits when due.

(t) Earnings per share
Basic EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than
dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any
bonus element. 

Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted for: 

■ costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;

■ the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been
recognised as expenses; and

■ other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of
potential ordinary shares;

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any 
bonus element.

(u) Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are included in
the costs of qualifying assets. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale. The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is
the weighted average interest rate applicable to the entity’s outstanding borrowings during the period. 

(v) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2004

Continued

LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

2. REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
Revenues from non-operating activities

Rent 109,159 124,977 109,159 124,977

Interest – other persons/corporations 562,092 97,323 562,092 97,323

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 63,295 – 63,295 –

Proceeds from disposal of shares in a controlled entity – 500,000 – –

Other revenue – sale of tenements – 25,000 – 25,000

Total revenues from non-operating activities 734,546 747,300 734,546 247,300

Total revenues from ordinary activities 734,546 747,300 734,546 247,300

3. EXPENSES AND LOSSES/(GAINS)

(a) Expenses
Depreciation of non-current assets

Leasehold improvements 3,461 – 3,461 –

Plant and equipment 124,168 77,330 124,168 77,330

Total depreciation of non-current assets 127,629 77,330 127,629 77,330

Borrowing costs expensed

Interest expense

Convertible note facility 327,205 233,878 327,205 233,878

Amortisation of borrowing costs 140,194 114,806 140,194 114,806

Total borrowing costs expensed 467,399 348,684 467,399 348,684

Other expenses

Office expenses 662,104 1,064,067 662,104 1,064,067

Operating lease rental 165,875 96,564 165,875 96,564

Travel and accommodation 214,633 418,837 253,681 418,837

Consulting 266,480 315,193 266,480 315,193

Accounting and tax consulting 73,557 110,366 73,557 110,366

Audit and accounting fees – auditors 45,000 41,000 45,000 41,000

Legal consulting 278,805 167,916 277,905 167,916

Other 103,715 110,859 59,667 110,859

Total Other expenses 1,810,169 2,324,802 1,804,269 2,324,802

Superannuation contributions 173,009 154,157 173,009 154,157

(b) Losses/(gains)
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,334 – 1,334 –

Net (profit) on disposal of tenements – (25,000) – (25,000)
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LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

4. INCOME TAX 
The prima facie tax, using tax rates applicable in the country 
of operation, on profit and extraordinary items differs from the 
income tax provided in the Financial Statements as follows:

Prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities (1,326,831) (1,526,051) (1,325,061) (1,566,178)

Tax effect of permanent differences

Other items (net) 33,985 42,274 33,985 42,274

Future income tax benefits on tax losses not brought to account 1,292,846 1,483,777 1,291,076 1,523,904

Income tax expense attributable to ordinary activities – – – –

Income tax losses

Future income tax benefit arising from tax losses of 
a controlled entity not recognised at reporting date 
as realisation of the benefit is not regarded as 
virtually certain 3,476,322 2,183,476 3,428,977 2,137,901

This future income tax benefit will only be obtained if:
(a) future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised;
(b) the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with; and
(c) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated entity in realising the benefit.

Tax consolidation
Effective 1 July 2002, for the purposes of income taxation, Lynas Corporation Limited and its 100% owned subsidiaries have
formed a tax consolidated group. Members of the group have entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate income
tax expense to the wholly-owned subsidiaries on a pro-rata basis. In addition, the agreement provides for the allocation of
income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. At the balance date, 
the possibility of default is remote. The head entity of the tax consolidated group is Lynas Corporation Limited.

There has been no material effect on the accounting for future income tax benefit or the provision for deferred tax liabilities. 
Lynas Corporation Limited has formally notified the Australian Tax Office of its adoption of the tax consolidation regime. 

5. DIVIDENDS PAID OR PROVIDED FOR ON ORDINARY SHARES
No Dividend has been recommended or declared since the end of the previous financial year

LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

6. RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)
Other receivables – security bonds 356,161 128,101 356,161 128,101

356,161 128,101 356,161 128,101

7. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Borrowing costs – 68,667 – 68,667

Prepayments-other 2,716 79,579 2,716 79,579

2,716 148,246 2,716 148,246
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Continued

LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

8. RECEIVABLES (NON-CURRENT)
Related party receivables

Wholly-owned group

– controlled entities 28 – – 12,158,752 11,205,435

– – 12,158,752 11,205,435

9. INVESTMENTS (NON-CURRENT)

Investments at cost comprise: 
Shares

Interest in subsidiaries – – 3,044,638 3,044,638

Listed 7,670,021 – 7,670,021 –

Total investments 7,670,021 – 10,714,659 3,044,638

Listed Shares
Quoted market value at balance date of investments 
listed on a prescribed stock exchange 7,163,028 – 7,163,028 –

The listed shares at cost comprises the investment in 3,316,375 common shares AMR Technologies Inc, which is listed on the
Toronto Stock Exchange in Canada, as announced on 28 January 2004. Lynas’ total holding of AMR shares represents 19.92%
of the 16,645,100 common shares outstanding at the time of acquisition.

Lynas Corporation Limited does not have any board seats in AMR Technologies Inc, nor does it exercise significant influence
over that company and accordingly this asset is carried at cost.

Interest in Subsidiaries

Name Country of Percentage of equity Investment
incorporation interest held by the 

consolidated entity

2004 2003 2004 2003
% % $ $

Mt Weld Rare Earths Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 5 5

Mt Weld Holdings Ltd Australia 100 100 3,044,631 3,044,631

Mt Weld Mining Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 1 1

Lynas Transales Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 1 1

3,044,638 3,044,638
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LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold Improvements

At cost 105,053 – 105,053 –

Accumulated amortisation (10,505) – (10,505) –

94,548 – 94,548 –
Furniture & Fittings

At cost 412,086 310,141 412,086 310,141

Accumulated depreciation (139,867) (148,094) (139,867) (148,094)

272,219 162,047 272,219 162,047
Total Property, plant and equipment

At cost 517,139 310,141 517,139 310,141

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation (150,372) (148,094) (150,372) (148,094)

Total plant and equipment written down 366,767 162,047 366,767 162,047

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the 
current financial year. 

Leasehold improvements
Carrying amount at beginning – –

Additions 105,053 –

Depreciation expense (10,505) –

94,548 –

Furniture & Fittings
Carrying amount at beginning 162,047 220,986

Additions 291,924 18,391

Disposals (64,628) –

Depreciation expense (117,124) (77,330)

272,219 162,047

11. DEFERRED EXPLORATION, EVALUATION 
AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Exploration, evaluation and development costs carried 
forward in respect of mining areas of interest

Pre-production – exploration and evaluation phases

Costs brought forward 14,252,021 12,676,430 – –

Expenditure incurred during the year 1,514,053 2,075,591 530,823 –

Disposal of shares in controlled entity – (500,000) – –

15,766,074 14,252,021 530,823 –

The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation phases is dependent on the successful
development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective mining areas. Amortisation of the costs carried forward 
for the development phase is not being recognised pending the commencement of production.
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LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

12. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
Expenditure carried forward – Borrowing costs – 170,000 – 170,000

Accumulated amortisation – (98,473) – (98,473)

– 71,527 – 71,527

13. PAYABLES (CURRENT)
Trade creditors 166,365 1,007,782 111,539 1,007,782

Trade creditors relating to exploration and technical projects 231,163 484,017 229,203 484,017

Other creditors 356,335 75,211 375,347 73,252

Withholding tax payable 47,853 41,212 47,853 41,212

801,716 1,608,222 763,942 1,606,263

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i) Trade creditors are non-interest bearing and are normally 
settled on 30 day terms.

(ii) Other creditors are non-interest bearing and have 
an average term of 30 days.

14. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES (CURRENT)
Interest on convertible notes 16 57,443 – 57,443 –

57,443 – 57,443 –

15. PROVISIONS (CURRENT)
Employee benefits 22 236,582 138,536 236,582 138,536

Restoration, rehabilitation and closure 17(b) 45,600 343,632 45,600 343,632

282,182 482,168 282,182 482,168

Employee Benefits 
Employee benefits reflect the anticipated amounts 
due and payable to employees at balance date for 
annual leave entitlements.

16. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES (NON-CURRENT)
Borrowings secured by floating charge

– convertible note – 3,227,828 – 3,227,828

Unsecured borrowings

– convertible note 7,750,000 – 7,750,000 –

7,750,000 3,227,828 7,750,000 3,227,828
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Unsecured Borrowings
Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments

In November 2003 the Company issued 100 Convertible Notes of $50,000 each to clients of Horse Creek Mining Pty Limited
and 100 Convertible Notes of $50,000 each to CMIEC (Australia) Pty Limited. This facility is unsecured. The period of the facility
is 36 months and it can be redeemed for cash, or converted into shares at the rate of:

■ upon conversion within one year after issue date 333,334 Shares and 133,333 Options each to acquire one Share at 
a price of $0.20 for each $50,000 note, expiring three years after the last day of the calendar year in which the Options 
are issued

■ upon Conversion after one year, but before two years after the Issue Date, the Noteholder will receive 294,118 Shares and
58,824 Options each to acquire one Share at a price of $0.20 per $50,000 note expiring three years after the last day of the
calendar year in which the Options are issued 

■ upon Conversion after two years after the Issue Date, but before the Maturity Date the Noteholder will receive 263,158
ordinary Shares for every Note.

Secured Borrowings
The 30 Convertible Notes under the agreement with SG Australia Limited were converted to ordinary shares thereby repaying
the entire facility.

It should be noted that the Company has sought legal advice that endorses the view that the Company may have the right to
refuse conversion of the 100 convertible notes currently held by CMIEC (Australia) Pty Limited.

During the period 45 unsecured convertible notes of $50,000 each and 30 secured convertible notes of $100,000 each 
(plus accumulated interested) were exercised for a total value of $5,571,195 in equity. 

LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

17. PROVISIONS (NON-CURRENT) 

Employee entitlements 22 155,858 122,847 155,858 122,847

Restoration, rehabilitation and closure 17(b) 208,218 324,559 208,218 324,559

364,076 447,406 364,076 447,406

a) Provision for employee benefits
Employee benefits reflect the anticipated amounts due and payable to employee at balance date for long service leave.

b) Provision for Restoration, Rehabilitation and Closure
Closure costs reflect the estimated amounts that will be incurred and the net exposure to future costs for the closure of the
Perth Premises. 

Provision for restoration is recognised in relation to the mining activities for costs such as reclamation, waste site closure, 
plant closure and other costs associated with the restoration of a mining site. Estimates of the restoration obligations are 
based on anticipated technology and legal requirements and future costs, which have been discounted to their present value. 
In determining the restoration provision, the entity has assumed no significant changes will occur in the relevant Federal and
State legislation in relation to restoration of such mines in the future.

LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

Movements in provisions

(i) Employee benefits
Carrying amount at beginning 261,383 181,300 261,383 181,300

Additional provision 131,057 80,083 131,057 80,083

Carrying amount at end 392,440 261,383 392,440 261,383
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LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

17. PROVISIONS (NON-CURRENT) (continued)

(ii) Restoration, rehabilitation and closure
Carrying amount at beginning 668,191 579,994 668,191 579,994

Increase (reduction) in provision (226,534) 510,931 (226,534) 510,931

Amounts utilised during the year (187,839) (422,734) (187,839) (422,734)

Carrying amount at end 253,818 668,191 253,818 668,191

18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

(a) Issued and paid up capital
Ordinary shares fully paid 48,563,869 29,062,415 48,563,869 29,062,415

48,563,869 29,062,415 48,563,869 29,062,415

(b) Movements in shares on issue

2004 2003

Number of Number of 
shares $ shares $

Beginning of the financial year 151,847,842 29,062,415 87,347,842 22,931,922

Issued during the year

– placement – – 19,500,000 1,950,000

– public equity raising – – 45,000,000 4,500,000

– less transaction costs – – – (319,507)

– issue of shares pursuant to exercise of convertible notes 24,225,558 5,571,195 – –

– issue of shares pursuant to option conversion 36,454,825 13,930,259 – –

End of the financial year 212,528,225 48,563,869 151,847,842 29,062,415

(c) Share Options

Number Exercise Price Expiry

Unlisted options 1,000,000 $0.30 July 2004

Unlisted options 343,750 $0.36 July 2004

Incentive Plan options 1,700,000 $0.25 December 2004

Incentive Plan options 7,675,000 $0.25 November 2006

Unlisted options 4,266,656 $0.20 December 2006

Unlisted options 3,000,000 $0.20 November 2006

Incentive Plan options 300,000 $0.30 November 2007

Unlisted options 7,500,000 $0.30 November 2007

Unlisted options 799,998 $0.20 December 2007

26,585,404

At the end of the year there were 26,585,404 (2003: 54,099,914) unissued ordinary shares in respect of which options 
were outstanding.
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18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (Continued)
At the end of the financial year there were 155 convertible notes outstanding. If these notes were fully exercised there would be
an additional 20,666,615 options over ordinary shares on issue.

(d) Terms and conditions of contributed equity

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the Company, to participate in
the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held.

Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company.

LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

19. ACCUMULATED LOSSES 
Balance at the beginning of year (16,882,221) (11,795,383) (16,882,221) (11,661,628)

Net loss attributable to members of Lynas Corporation Limited (4,422,770) (5,086,838) (4,416,870) (5,220,593)

Balance at end of year (21,304,991) (16,882,221) (21,299,091) (16,882,221)

20. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of the net loss after tax to 
the net cash flows from operations
Net loss 19 (4,422,770) (5,086,838) (4,416,870) (5,220,593)

Non-Cash Items
Depreciation and Amortisation of non-current assets 127,629 77,330 127,629 77,330

Amortisation of borrowing costs 140,194 114,806 140,194 114,806

Net (profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,334 – 1,334 –

Net (profit)/loss on disposal of tenements – (25,000) – (25,000)

Interest capitalised – 227,828 – 227,828

Changes in assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables – 98,802 – (1,542,501)

(Increase)/decrease in other assets 76,863 – 76,863 –

(Increase)/decrease in investments – – – (304,573)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other creditors (806,506) (1,391,658) (842,321) (1,387,618)

(Decrease)/increase in interest bearing liabilities 57,443 – 57,443 –

(Decrease)/increase in employee entitlements 131,057 (141,767) 131,057 (141,767)

(Decrease)/increase in rehabilitation provision (414,373) – (414,373) –

Net cash flow from operating activities (5,109,129) (6,126,497) (5,139,044) (8,202,088)
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LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
Notes $ $ $ $

20. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of cash
Cash balance comprises:

– cash assets 12,352,556 3,183,876 12,352,543 3,183,865

Closing cash balance 12,352,556 3,183,876 12,352,543 3,183,865

(c) Financing facilities available
At reporting date, the following financing facilities 
had been negotiated and were available:

Total facilities

– Convertible note facility 16 7,750,000 3,227,828 7,750,000 3,227,828

Facilities used at reporting date

– Convertible note facility 16 7,750,000 3,227,828 7,750,000 3,227,828

21. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

(a) Exploration commitments
– not later than one year 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000

– later than one year and not later than five years 155,954 644,554 155,954 644,554

– later than five years 101,166 723,522 101,166 723,522

457,120 1,568,076 457,120 1,568,076

The reduction in the overall commitment for exploration arises 
from the disposal of tenements during the financial year.

(b) Lease commitments
– not later than one year 269,766 – 269,766 –

– later than one year and not later than five years 1,083,408 – 1,083,408 –

– later than five years – – – –

1,353,174 – 1,353,174 –

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND 
SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS

Employee Benefits
The aggregate employee benefit liability is comprised of:

Accrued wages, salaries and on-costs 65,296 88,615 65,296 88,615

Provisions (current) 236,582 156,709 236,582 156,709

Provisions (non-current) 155,858 122,847 155,858 122,847

457,736 368,171 457,736 368,171
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22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS (Continued)

Employee Share Incentive Scheme
An employee share scheme has been established where Lynas Corporation Limited may, at the discretion of Directors, grant
options over the ordinary shares of Lynas Corporation Limited to Directors, Executives and certain members of staff of the
consolidated entity. The options, issued for nil consideration, are granted in accordance with performance guidelines established
by the Directors of Lynas Corporation Limited, although the management of Lynas Corporation Limited retains the final
discretion on the issue of the options. The options are issued for a term of 5 years and are exercisable beginning on the third
anniversary of the date of grant. The options cannot be transferred and will not be quoted on the ASX. There are currently five
Directors, three Executives and ten staff eligible for this scheme.

Information with respect to the number of options granted under the employee share incentive scheme is as follows:

2004 2003
Number of Weighted Number of Weighted

options average options average
exercise exercise

price price

Balance at beginning of year 11,975,000 $0.25 11,675,000 $0.25

– granted – – 300,000 $0.30

– exercised (2,300,000) $0.25 – –

Balance at end of year 9,675,000 $0.25 11,975,000 $0.25

Exercisable at end of year 5,690,000 $0.25 250,000 $0.25

(a) Superannuation Commitments
All employees are entitled to varying levels of benefits on retirement, disability or death. Employees contribute to the plans at
various percentages of their wages and salaries. Contributions by the consolidated entity of up to 9% of employees’ wages and
salaries are legally enforceable in Australia. 

(b) Options held at the beginning of the reporting period:
The following table summarises information about options held by employees as at 1 July 2003:

Number of options Grant date Vesting date Expiry date Weighted average 
exercise price

2,880,000 23 December 1999 5 years to 31 December 2004 31 December 2004 0.25

150,000 31 May 2000 5 years to 31 May 2005 31 May 2005 0.25

7,675,000 30 October 2001 5 years to 30 November 2006 30 November 2006 0.25

100,000 1 August 2002 5 years to 1 August 2007 1 August 2007 0.30

100,000 2 December 2002 5 years to 2 December 2007 2 December 2007 0.30

1,070,000 30 June 2003 5 years to 30 June 2008 30 June 2008 0.30

11,975,000

(c) Options granted during the reporting period:
No options were granted during the reporting period. 
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22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(d) Options exercised

(i) The following table summarises information about options exercised by employees during the year ended 30 June 2004:
Number Grant date Exercise date Expiry date Weighted Proceeds Number of Issue date Fair 
of options average from shares value

exercise shares issued of 
price issued shares

issued

250,000 23 December 1999 28 August 2003 31 December 2004 0.25 $62,500 250,000 28 August 2003 0.37

300,000 23 December 1999 4 September 2003 31 December 2004 0.25 $75,000 300,000 4 September 2003 0.45

75,000 23 December 1999 12 September 2003 31 December 2004 0.25 $85,425 75,000 12 September 2003 0.45

250,000 23 December 1999 17 September 2003 31 December 2004 0.25 $62,500 250,000 17 September 2003 0.49

200,000 23 December 1999 19 September 2003 31 December 2004 0.25 $50,000 200,000 19 September 2003 0.48

250,000 23 December 1999 26 September 2003 31 December 2004 0.25 $62,500 250,000 26 September 2003 0.51

100,000 23 December 1999 2 October 2003 31 December 2004 0.25 $25,000 100,000 2 October 2003 0.51

30,000 23 December 1999 8 October 2003 31 December 2004 0.25 $7,500 30,000 8 October 2003 0.52

400,000 23 December 1999 13 October 2003 31 December 2004 0.25 $100,000 400,000 13 October 2003 0.58

170,000 23 December 1999 11 November 2003 31 December 2004 0.25 $42,500 170,000 11 November 2003 0.61

275,000 23 December 1999 28 April 2004 31 December 2004 0.25 $68,750 275,000 28 April 2004 0.43

2,300,000

(ii) No employee options were exercised by employees during the year ended 30 June 2003.
Fair value of shares issued during the reporting period is estimated to be the market price of shares of Lynas Corporation
Limited on the ASX as at close of trading on their respective issue dates.

(e) Options held as at the end of the reporting period:
The following table summarises information about options held by the employees as at 30 June 2004:

Number of options Grant date Vesting date Expiry date Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price

580,000 23 December 1999 5 years to 31 December 2004 31 December 2004 0.25

150,000 31 May 2000 5 years to 31 May 2005 31 May 2005 0.25

7,675,000 30 October 2001 5 years to 30 November 2006 30 November 2006 0.25

100,000 1 August 2002 5 years to 1 August 2007 1 August 2007 0.30

100,000 2 December 2002 5 years to 2 December 2007 2 December 2007 0.30

1,070,000 30 June 2003 5 years to 30 June 2008 30 June 2008 0.30

9,675,000
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23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 

(a) Contingent liabilities

General
The Company had entered into guarantees, contracts, maintenance bonds and warranties in the normal course of business,
including performance bond guarantees arranged with a bank totalling $356,161 (2003 – $128,101).

The tenements at Mt Weld are not presently subject to any claims under the Commonwealth Native Title Act.

Mt Weld Project Contingent Debt and Royalty
Lynas Corporation Limited will be responsible for making payments to Ashton Mining (WA) Pty Limited as follows:

■ $7,500,000 (indexed by the increase in the consumer price index, with the first indexation occurring on 31 December, 2001)
on the occurrence of the following:

■ within 2 business days after the first drawdown (or other actual provision of funds) under financing provided to develop any
Mt Weld Project or otherwise for the purpose of mining minerals from any part of the tenements (whether alone or with
other purposes);

■ within one month after the date on which pre stripping (or a similar or equivalent form of major surface disturbance)
commences for the purposes of mining any minerals from any part of the tenements;

■ if El Calden SA exercises its rights in the project, the total amount paid by El Calden SA up to the total amount of this
contingent debt must be repaid within 2 business days of payment;

■ the whole of the contingent debt (or the portion that remains outstanding after El Calden SA exercises its rights) becomes
immediately repayable if any security granted to Ashton Mining (WA) Pty Limited becomes enforceable.

The capital sum of the contingent debt is secured by a first ranking tenement mortgage over the tenements M38/58, 
M38/59, M38/326 and M38/327; as well as mortgages over the shares of Mt Weld Rare Earths Pty Limited and 
Mt Weld Mining Pty Limited.

The above contingent debt will not be payable if there exists uneconomic reserves which result in the cessation of 
mine development.

A Royalty capped at $10,700,000 (indexed by the increase in the consumer price index, with the first indexation occurring on 
31 December, 2001) payable at the rate of 1% on all Rare Earths sales and all mineral sales out of the Mt Weld tenements. 

24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
At the date of this report there are no material post balance date events which require disclosure other than the exercise of the
1,000,000 July 2004 options, the lapsing of the 343,750 July 2004 options and the exercise of 5 convertible notes.

CONSOLIDATED

2004 2003
$ $

25. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
The following reflects the income and share data used in the 
calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Net profit (4,422,770) (5,086,838)

Earnings used in calculating basic and 
diluted earnings per share (4,422,770) (5,086,838)
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25. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

2004 2003
Number Number 

of shares of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used in calculating basic earnings per share: 188,315,185 112,645,993

Effect of dilutive securities:
The number of options and convertible notes which are potential 
ordinary shares that are not dilutive and hence not used in the 
calculation of the diluted earnings per share 98,918,789 54,099,914

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used in calculating diluted earnings per share 188,315,185 112,645,993

Conversions, calls, subscription or issues after 30 June 2004
There have been no other conversions to, calls of, or subscriptions for ordinary shares or issues of potential ordinary shares
since the reporting date and before the completion of this financial report. 

LYNAS
CONSOLIDATED CORPORATION LIMITED

2004 2003 2004 2003
$ $ $ $

26. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 
Amounts received or due and receivable by 
Ernst & Young Australia for:

– an audit or review of the financial report of the entity and any 
other entity in the consolidated group 45,000 41,000 45,000 41,000

– tax related services 50,000 – 50,000 –

– transaction advice 15,000 – 15,000 –

– accounting assistance 6,000 – 6,000 –

116,000 41,000 116,000 41,000

27. DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES

(a) Details of Specified Directors and Specified Executives 

(i) Specified Directors

B Davidson Chairman (Non-Executive)

N Curtis Chief Executive Officer and President

H Wang Director (Executive)

D Davidson Director (Non-Executive)

A Lupton Director (Executive) resigned 22 October 2003

(ii) Specified Executives

M Vaisey General Manager – Operations and Technical Services

M Whillier General Manager – Finance

M James General Manager – Corporate and Business Development
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27. DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b) Remuneration of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

(i) Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of Lynas Corporation Limited is responsible for determining and
reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the Executive team. The Remuneration
Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of emoluments of such Officers on a periodic basis by
reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the
retention of a high quality Board and Executive team. Such Officers are given the opportunity to receive their base emolument in
a variety of forms including cash and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles and expense payment plans. It is intended that the
manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the Company.

To assist in achieving these objectives, the Remuneration Committee links the nature and amount of Executive Directors’ and
Officers’ emoluments to the Company’s financial and operational performance. All Directors and Executives have the opportunity
to qualify for participation in the Employee Share Incentive Plan which currently provides incentives where specified criteria 
are met including criteria relating to profitability, cash flow, share price growth and environmental performance. It is the
Remuneration Committee’s policy that employment agreements shall only be entered into with the Chief Executive Officer 
and with no other Executives. 

The Company entered into an agreement (“Employment Agreement”) dated 2 August 2001 with Mr N Curtis for the provision 
of Mr Curtis’ services as Chief Executive Officer on reasonable commercial terms and conditions. The current employment
agreement with the Chief Executive Officer has been extended and expires on 31 July 2008.

The Company entered into an agreement (“Employment Agreement”) dated 2 August 2001 with Mr O Wang for the provision 
of Mr Wang’s services as a Vice President on reasonable commercial terms and conditions. 

(ii) Remuneration of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

Primary Post Employment Equity Total

Salary Cash LAFHA Non Superan- Retirement Options Bonuses
& Fees Bonus Monetary nuation benefits

benefits

Specified Directors

B Davidson
2004 55,000 – – – 20,000 – 1,320 – 76,320

2003 75,000 – – – – – 1,320 – 76,320

N Curtis

2004 319,852 – – 2,700 27,935 – 8,800 – 359,287

2003 272,822 – – 5,400 24,554 – 8,800 – 311,576

H Wang

2004 200,000 – 50,000 1,790 16,514 – 6,600 – 274,904

2003 200,000 – 50,000 – 16,514 – 6,600 – 273,114

D Davidson

2004 50,000 – – – – – 6,540 – 56,540

2003 50,000 – – – – – 7,872 – 57,872

A Lupton

2004 41,284 – – – 3,716 308,613 6,600 – 360,213

2003 247,171 – – – 22,245 – 6,600 – 276,016

Total Remuneration: Specified Directors

2004 666,136 – 50,000 4,490 68,165 308,613 29,860 – 1,127,264
2003* 844,993 – 50,000 5,400 63,313 – 31,192 – 994,898
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27. DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Primary Post Employment Equity Total

Salary Cash LAFHA Non Superan- Retirement Options Bonuses
& Fees Bonus Monetary nuation benefits

benefits

Specified Executives

M Vaisey

2004 208,857 – – – 18,797 – 1,100 – 228,754

2003 185,184 – – – 16,667 – 1,100 – 202,951

M Whillier

2004 193,720 – – – 17,435 – 2,200 – 213,355

2003 185,184 – – – 16,667 – 2,200 – 204,051

M James

2004 208,716 – – – 18,784 – 1,327 – 228,827

2003 128,557 – – – 11,570 – 290 – 140,417

Total Remuneration: Specified Executives

2004 611,293 – – – 55,016 – 4,627 – 670,936
2003* 498,925 – – – 44,904 – 3,590 – 547,419

* Group totals in respect of the financial year ended 2003 do not necessarily equal the sums of amounts disclosed for 2003 for individuals specified in 2004, as different
individuals were specified in 2003.

(c) Remuneration options: Granted and vested during the year
During the financial year no options were granted as equity compensation benefits to Specified Directors and Specified Executives. 

(d) Shares issued on exercise of remuneration options
During the financial year no shares were issued on exercise of remuneration options to Specified Directors and Specified Executives.
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27. DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(e) Option holdings of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

Balance at Granted as Options Net Balance at
beginning Remun- Exercised Change end of Vested at 30
of period eration Other period June 2004

1 July 2003 # 30 June 2004 Total Not 
Exercisable Exercisable

Specified Directors
B Davidson 400,000 – (100,000) – 300,000 – – –

N Curtis 13,900,000 – – (11,900,000) 2,000,000 – – –

H Wang 2,650,000 – (300,000) (850,000) 1,500,000 – – –

D Davidson 800,000 – (500,000) – 300,000 – – –

A Lupton 2,850,000 – – (1,350,000) 1,500,000 – – –

Specified Executives

M Vaisey 500,000 – – – 500,000 – – –

M Whillier 600,000 – – (100,000) 500,000 – – –

M James 500,000 – – – 500,000 – – –

Total 22,200,000 – (900,000) (14,200,000) 7,100,000 – – –

# Includes forfeits and offer to all employees under the Employee Share Scheme dated 30 June 2004 – refer to Note 22 for details of the Scheme.

(f) Shareholdings of Specified Directors and Specified Executives
Shares held in Lynas Corporation Limited (number)

Balance Granted as On Net Other 
1 July 03 Remun- Exercise Change Balance

eration of Options Other 30 June 04

Ord Ord Ord Ord Ord

Specified Directors
B Davidson 658,000 – 100,000 – 758,000

N Curtis 15,590,192 – – (26,000) 15,564,192

H Wang 500,000 – 300,000 – 800,000

D Davidson 135,000 – 500,000 – 635,000

A Lupton 300,000 – – (300,000) –

Specified Executives
M Vaisey 70,330 – – (70,330) –

M Whillier 298,083 – – 12,000 310,083

M James 580,000 – – (190,000) 390,000

Total 18,131,605 – 900,000 (574,330) 18,457,275

All equity transactions with Specified Directors and Specified Executives other than those arising from the exercise of
remuneration options have been entered into under terms and conditions no more favourable than those the entity would have
adopted if dealing at arm’s length.
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27. DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(g) Loans to Specified Directors and Specified Executives
There are no loans to Specified Directors or Specified Executives. 

(h) Other transactions and balances with Specified Directors and Specified Executives

Services
Legal services amounting to $278,805 were provided to Lynas Corporation Limited by Deacons at standard commercial rates.
Mr B Davidson is a consultant to Deacons, a major national law firm, having retired as a partner on 30 June 2004. The contract
for the provision of services was approved by shareholders at an Annual General Meeting.

Administrative services amounting to $145,498 were provided by Sino Gold Limited to Lynas Corporation Limited at rates 
based on arms-length transactions. During the year the company sold $62,655 of furniture and fittings to Sino Gold Limited 
at book value, which was assessed to be a fair and equitable arms-length price. Sino Gold Limited is a company of which 
Mr N Curtis and Mr B Davidson are Directors. The contract for the provision of services was approved by shareholders at 
an Annual General Meeting. 

Management consulting services amounting to $120,000 were provided to Lynas Corporation Limited by Maxipot on an 
arm’s-length basis. Maxipot is a company controlled by Mr D Davidson. The contract for the provision of services was 
approved by shareholders at an Annual General Meeting.

The balance owing on items detailed above reflected in the current liabilities at year end is $36,463 (2003 $21,989)

28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Ultimate parent
Lynas Corporation Limited is the ultimate parent Company.

Wholly-owned group transactions

Loans
Loans made by Lynas Corporation Limited to wholly-owned subsidiaries. The loans are unsecured and interest free with no fixed
terms of repayment.

During the year the Lynas Corporation Limited advanced funds amounting to $953,317 to Mt Weld Mining Pty Limited to fund
feasibility study activities.

As at 30 June 2004 the total amount owing by Mt Weld Mining Pty Limited to the Parent Company was $12,158,746 (2003:
$11,205,429). This advance is at call and interest free and is not expected to be repaid during the next twelve months. 
(Refer: Note 8).
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29. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment products and locations 
The Company’s main concentration has been on the Rare Earths resource at Mt Weld near Laverton in Western Australia.

Geographically, the group operates in a single geographic segment, being Australia.

Segment accounting policies
Segment accounting policies are the same as the consolidated entity’s policies described in Note 1. During the financial year,
there were no changes in segment accounting policies that had a material effect on the segment information.

Business segments Rare Earths Niobium / Tantalum Gold Consolidated

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Total segment revenue – – – – – – – –

Non-segment revenues

Interest revenue 562,092 97,323 – – – – 562,092 97,323

Proceeds on sale of 
plant and equipment 63,295 – – – – – 63,295 –

Proceeds on disposal 
of investments and 
tenements – – – 500,000 – 25,000 – 525,000

Unallocated revenue – rent 109,159 124,977 – – – – 109,159 124,977

Total consolidated revenue 734,546 222,300 – 500,000 – 25,000 734,546 747,300

Results

Segment result (3,949,471) (4,877,960) (5,900) – – 25,000 (3,955,371) (4,852,960)

Non-segment expenses

Interest expense (467,399) (233,878)

Unallocated expenses

Consolidated entity loss 
from ordinary activities 
before income tax expense (4,422,770) (5,086,838)

Income tax expense – –

Net loss (4,422,770) (5,086,838)

Assets

Segment assets 34,166,790 15,945,818 2,347,509 2,000,000 – – 36,514,299 17,945,818

Total assets 36,514,299 17,945,818

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 8,883,825 5,097,433 37,774 – 333,818 668,191 9,255,417 5,765,624

Non-segment liabilities – –

Total liabilities 9,255,417 5,765,624

Other segment information:

Acquisition of property, 
plant and equipment, 
intangible 
assets and other 
non-current assets 9,233,542 18,391 347,509 – – – 9,581,051 18,391

Depreciation 127,629 77,330 – – – – 127,629 77,330

Amortisation of borrowing 
costs 140,194 114,806 – – – – 140,194 114,806
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Net fair values
The carrying amounts of all financial assets and liabilities approximate the net fair values at balance date, with the exception 
of the investment in AMR Technologies Inc.

(c) Credit risk exposures 
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, net of any provisions for 
doubtful debts of those assets is the carrying value, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position and notes to the 
Financial Statements.

The economic entity does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under financial
instruments entered into by the economic entity.

31. IMPACT OF ADOPTING AASB EQUIVALENTS TO IASB STANDARDS
Lynas Corporation Limited has commenced transitioning its accounting policies and financial reporting from current Australian
Standards to Australian equivalents of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Company has allocated internal
resources and engaged expert consultants to perform diagnostics and conduct impact assessments to isolate key areas that
will be impacted by the transition to IFRS. As Lynas has a 30 June year-end, priority has been given to considering the
preparation of an opening balance sheet in accordance with AASB equivalents to IFRS as at 1 July 2004. This will form the
basis of accounting for Australian equivalents of IFRS in the future, and is required when Lynas prepare its first fully IFRS
compliant financial report for the year ended 30 June 2006. Set out below are the key areas where accounting policies will
change and may have an impact on the financial report of Lynas. At this stage the Company has not been able to reliably
quantify the impacts on the financial report.

Measurement of Financial Instruments 
Under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, financial instruments will be required to be classified 
into one of five categories which will, in turn, determine the accounting treatment of the item. The classifications are loans and
receivables – measured at amortised cost, held to maturity – measured at amortised cost, held for trading – measured at fair
value with fair value changes charged to net profit or loss, available for sale – measured at fair value with fair value changes
taken to equity and non-trading liabilities – measured at amortised cost. This will result in a change in the current accounting
policy that does not classify financial instruments. 

Currently the investment in AMR Technologies Inc. is carried at cost because Lynas owns less than 20% of the shares in that
company, does not have any directors on the board and does not exercise any influence over the board or management of the
company. Under the change in accounting standards this investment would be recorded at market value which would result 
in a reduction of value of the investment of $506,993 as at 30 June 2004.

Deferred Exploration, Evaluation and Development Costs
The IASB has yet to issue a standard dealing with exploration and evaluation costs. It is currently expected that a standard 
will be released late in 2004 based on the Exposure Draft (ED6 – Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources). ED6
proposes that entities can elect to continue to recognise and measure exploration and evaluation assets in accordance with 
the accounting policies applied in their most recent annual Financial Statements. Entities will only be permitted to carry forward
such costs after also having applied AASB136 – Impairment of Assets in respect of any impairment. 

As the standard is yet to be issued it is not included in the “stable platform” that the AASB has made available by 30 June 2004
for Australian entities to use on transition to IFRS. While early adoption is permitted, it is not mandatory. The future financial
effect of this change in accounting policy is not yet known.

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2004
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31. IMPACT OF ADOPTING AASB EQUIVALENTS TO IASB STANDARDS (continued)

Share based payments
Under AASB 2 Share based Payments, the Company will be required to determine the fair value of options issued to employees
as remuneration and recognise an expense in the Statement of Financial Performance. This standard is not limited to options
and also extends to other forms of equity based remuneration. It applies to all share-based payments issued after 7 November
2002 which have not vested as at 1 January 2005. Reliable estimation of the future financial effects of this change in accounting
policy is impracticable as the details of future equity based remuneration plans are unknown.

Income taxes
Under the Australian equivalent to IAS 12 Income Taxes, the Company will be required to use a balance sheet liability method
which focuses on the tax effects of transactions and other events that affect amounts recognised in either the Statement of
Financial Position or a tax-based balance sheet. It is not expected that there will be any further material impact as a result of
adoption of this standard. Presently, and for the past several years Lynas has been operating in a loss position. Due to the
uncertainty regarding the recoverability of these losses, they have not been brought to account. 
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In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Lynas Corporation Limited, I state that:

(1) In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the Financial Statements and notes of the Company and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2004 and
of their performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become
due and payable.

On behalf of the Board

B Davidson N Curtis
Director Director

Sydney, 25 August 2004
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Independent Audit Report 
To members of Lynas Corporation Limited

Scope

The financial report and Directors’ responsibility
The financial report comprises the Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Cash
Flows, accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements, and the Directors’ Declaration for Lynas Corporation Limited (the
Company) and the consolidated entity, for the year ended 30 June 2004. The consolidated entity comprises both the
Company and the entities it controlled during that year.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for preparing a financial report that gives a true and fair view of the financial
position and performance of the Company and the consolidated entity, and that complies with Accounting Standards in
Australia, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate
accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting
policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.

Audit approach
We conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the
Company. Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards in order to provide reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors
such as the use of professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability 
of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have 
been detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with Accounting Standards in Australia, and other mandatory financial reporting
requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of the Company’s and the consolidated entity’s
financial position, and of their performance as represented by the results of their operations and cash flows.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

■ examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report, and

■ assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature
and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

We performed procedures to assess whether the substance of business transactions was accurately reflected in the financial
report. These and our other procedures did not include consideration or judgement of the appropriateness or reasonableness
of the business plans or strategies adopted by the Directors and management of the Company.
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Independence
We are independent of the Company, and have met the independence requirements of Australian professional ethical
pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001. In addition to our audit of the financial report, we were engaged to
undertake the services disclosed in the Notes to the Financial Statements. The provision of these services has not 
impaired our independence.

Audit opinion
In our opinion, the financial report of Lynas Corporation Limited is in accordance with:

(a) the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Lynas Corporation Limited and the consolidated entity 
at 30 June 2004 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia.

Ernst & Young Michael Elliott
Partner

Sydney, 25 August 2004



ASX Additional Information 
30 June 2004

Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows.  
The information is current as at 21 September 2004.

(a) Distribution of equity securities
The number of shareholders, by size of holding, in each class of share are:

Ordinary shares

Number Number 
of holders of shares

1 – 1,000 517 288,408

1,001 – 5,000 727 2,019,586

5,001 – 10,000 387 3,224,646

10,001 – 100,000 731 27,590,375

100,001 and over 181 182,171,880

Total on Register 2,543 215,294,895

Total Overseas Holders 90 14,563,598

The number of shareholders holding less than
a marketable parcel of shares are: 656 426,522

(b) Twenty largest shareholders
The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted shares are:

Listed ordinary shares

Number Percentage of 
of shares ordinary shares

MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) 15,756,967 7.32

WESTPAC CUSTODIAN NOMINEES 12,458,925 5.79

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA 12,217,130 5.67

MR NICHOLAS ANTHONY CURTIS 11,881,605 5.52

ALL-STATES FINANCE PTY LTD 11,095,014 5.15

STANDARD BANK LONDON LIMITED 9,628,450 4.47

ROBMAR INVESTMENTS PTY LIMITED 9,619,241 4.47

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 9,347,778 4.34

BB NOMINEES PTY LTD 6,753,862 3.14

ANZ NOMINEES LIMITED 6,740,473 3.13

COLBERN FIDUCIARY NOMINEES PTY LTD 6,000,000 2.79

CMIEC (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD 5,000,000 2.32

ARMADA TRADING PTY LTD 3,724,680 1.73

NYCO PTY LTD 2,131,535 0.99

MR PETER COOK 1,666,670 0.77

AJAVA HOLDINGS PTY LTD 1,666,670 0.77

MR MICHAEL JAMES BALL 1,585,002 0.74

FITEL NOMINEES LIMITED 1,505,000 0.70

MR ANTONY JOHN MAGNUS 1,218,800 0.57

WESTERN BRIDGE PTY LTD 1,200,000 0.56

131,197,802 60.94
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(c) Substantial shareholders

The names of substantial shareholders who have notified the Company in accordance with section 671B of the 
Corporations Act 2001 are:

Number of shares

Nicholas Anthony Curtis 14,013,140

(d) Voting rights
All ordinary shares (whether fully paid or not) carry one vote per share without restriction.

(e) Schedule of interests in mining tenements

Location Tenement Percentage 
held

Lynas Find Region
Lynas Find M45/511 100

Mt Weld Rare Earths Project
Mt Weld M38/58 100

M38/59 100

M38/326 100

M38/327 100

Lynas surrendered tenements during the year M45/355, M45/356 (29 June, 2004).
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Corporate Information

Lynas Corporation Limited
ABN 27 009 066 648

Directors
Brian Davidson (Chairman)

Nicholas Curtis (President and 
Chief Executive Officer)

Wang Ou (Harold) (Executive Director)

David Davidson (Director)

Company Secretary
Ivo Polovineo

Registered Office
Level 7, 56 Pitt Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Telephone +61 2 8259 7100
Facsimile +61 2 8259 7199
Email lynas@lynascorp.com

Internet Address
www.lynascorp.com

Solicitors
Deacons
1 Alfred Street
Circular Quay
Sydney NSW 2001

Bankers
Westpac Banking Corporation
275 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Share Register 
Security Transfer Registrars
770 Canning Highway
Applecross WA 6963

Telephone +61 8 9315 2333
Facsimile +61 8 9315 2233

Auditors
Ernst & Young
The Ernst & Young Building
321 Kent Street
Sydney NSW 2000
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